
 

 

Select Board & Board of Assessors Meeting - Agenda 

 December 11, 2023 @ 7:00 p.m.  

(immediately following the Special Town Meeting) 

Fire Station Community Room, 86 River Rd.  

  

1. Call to Order 

 

2. Amendments to the Agenda 

  

3. Minutes of the previous meeting  

   

4. Public Comments on Items Not on the Agenda   

 

5. New Business   

a. Farm Space Classification Removal Penalty 

b. Fireworks Ordinance 

c. Reserve Account Review 

d. Board and Committee Membership 

e. Updates on Recent Community Meetings 

 

6. Unfinished Business 

a. Personnel Policy 

b. Domestic Partnership Coverage 

c. Finance Committee Ordinance 

 

7. Town Manager Report and Communications 

 

8. Fiscal Warrants 

a. FY24 Twelfth AP Warrant:  $229,800.41 

 

9. Executive Session 

a. 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405 (6) A – Personnel 

 

10. Future Agenda Items 

a. Fire Engine Bid 

b. Comprehensive Plan State Approval 

c. Posted Road Application 

d. Ground Lease Agreement 

e. Fish Ladder Agreement 

f. Historic Preservation Ordinance 

g. Harbormaster Ordinance 

 

11. Adjournment of Meeting  

1



Manager commentary for December 11th, 2023 Agenda packet items 

5. New Business Items:  This location on the agenda is meant for items that have not previously been put before the 

Select Board.  Ideally, they are placed here as an introduction and for in-depth discussion before a final draft is later 

presented as an Unfinished Business item at a future meeting.  However, if the new item is time sensitive or the Select 

Board has no issue with the item as presented, the Board may choose to vote on the item. 

New Business Item: 5A – Farm Space Classification Removal Penalty 

Manager’s Commentary:  Our Assessor’s agent Jim Murphy has prepared the document found on PAGE 5.  The Farm 

Space Classification is a State of Maine current use law.  When a property is withdrawn from the classification a 

monetary penalty is required.  In this case, the mother of the current owner divided the larger parcel into smaller 

parcels.  Since the parcels were contiguous, Farm Space was allowed under the original owner.  Once the lots were 

deeded and separated the individual lots no longer qualified for the classification.  Hence a withdrawal penalty is 

required and the Board of Assessors will need to approve and sign the document so staff can levy and collect the 

supplemental assessment. 

A Possible motion: “To assess a Farm Space Withdrawal Penalty as recommended and presented by Assessor’s Agent 

Murphy.”  

New Business Item: 5B – Fireworks Ordinance 

Manager’s Commentary:  As part of the Ordinance and Policy Review Work Plan, we’ve reviewed the Fireworks 

Ordinance for this month (PAGE 6) and have suggested a few minor changes in addition to creating a clean draft.  What’s 

changed?  Not too much of the language.  Mostly clarification of wording, a few more commas, and some shuffling of the 

articles.  It’s still unclear how well this is can be enforced.  It would be great to get some additional feedback from the 

Select Board before bringing forward another round of conversation and a request to schedule a public hearing. 

New Business Item: 5C – Reserve Account Review 

Manager’s Commentary:  One of the concerns shared early on in my Newcastle interim role was what are our current 

funding levels in our reserve accounts and what has that money been used for.  While we don’t have audited financial 

statements available past June 2021, nor do we have pre-designed software tools to track this information, staff have 

worked the last few months to develop a new template and work to populate the information needed to answer this 

question (Special thanks to Michelle!).  See PAGE 13.  The dollar amounts are accurate based on what has been allocated 

and spent.  Whether or not what has been spent in these accounts accurately matches the intent of the account is a little 

less clear.   We’ve done our best to track down the created date and the purpose of the account, but in some cases, 

we’re going to need more institutional knowledge. 

2



It would be ideal to spend some time reviewing the currently drafted purposes and updating them to develop better 

guidelines for future expenditures from these accounts and taking more formal action to set these in place at a later 

date.     

New Business Item: 5D – Board and Committee Membership 

Manager’s Commentary:  Websites, Ordinances, our Trio Database, and signed Oaths of Office.  These are the places 

we’ve looked to try and understand the larger picture of Town of Newcastle’s Boards and Committees.  What we’ve 

put together on PAGE 23 is the information and links we’ve been able to gather.   Hopefully some more conversation 

as a group will help staff and I fill in the blanks.  Additionally, it would be helpful to gather some recommendations to 

fill vacancies or plans to re-appoint members for the first meeting in January.  

New Business Item: 5E – Updates on Recent Community Meetings 

Manager’s Commentary:  Over the last month or so, the Select Board and Town Manager have been invited to several 

meetings (agendas start on PAGE 36) that may have a future impact on the residents of Newcastle.

• Aquaculture Meeting – November 21, 2023

• Newcastle School Committee – November 30, 2023

• Planning Board Workshop on Shoreland Zoning – November 30, 2023

These meetings have not met the threshold of an emergency or special Select Board meeting, as they have been 

informational in nature.  Additionally, none of these meetings had more than two elected officials attend.  However, 

we’re hoping to give those in attendance at those different meetings a chance to share their insights and takeaways from 

them.   Karen and Rufus were at the Aquaculture meeting, Rufus and I were at the School Committee meeting, and while 

I know others were interested in attending the Planning Board workshop, that did not happen.  I will come to the 

meeting equipped with some of the takeaways.   

6. Unfinished Business Items:  Agenda items that have been brought before the Select Board previously in the current

fiscal year.  Ideally these are items that have been reviewed and are ready for vote, but the Select Board reserves the 

right for greater discussion, modification, or further postponement. 

Unfinished Business Item: 6A – Personnel Policy 

Manager’s Commentary: The Select Board considered several revisions to the Personnel Policy at their November 13th 

and November 27th Select Board meetings.  Staff were informed of the potential changes on November 8th and followed 

up with on November 15th regarding additional changes.  All of the proposed changes can be found HERE.  A clean 

version of the policy has been included in this meeting packet on PAGE 39.

A Possible Motion: “To approve the updates to the Personnel Policy effect January 1, 2024.” 

3

https://www.newcastlemaine.us/sites/g/files/vyhlif6211/f/agendas/2023-11-13_select_board_agenda_and_packet.pdf
https://www.newcastlemaine.us/sites/g/files/vyhlif6211/f/agendas/2023-11-27_select_board_agenda_and_packet.pdf
https://www.newcastlemaine.us/sites/g/files/vyhlif6211/f/agendas/personnel_policy_draft_11.15_all_proposed_changes_to_date.pdf


Unfinished Business Item: 6B – Domestic Partnership Coverage 

Manager’s Commentary: As part of the update to the Personnel Policy, the Select Board has indicated their interest in 

supporting domestic partnership for health insurance coverage.  To comply with the Health Trust, the Select Board will 

need to take a formal vote on the exact language in the motion below.  All the documents pertaining to this can be 

found on PAGE 79 and were previously provided as part of the November 13th, 2023 packet. 

Required Motion: “Effective January 01, 2024, the Town of Newcastle amends its personnel benefits policy to allow any 

employee who is eligible to enroll in the employer benefits the option of enrolling a domestic partner. 

Any employee who wishes to add a domestic partner will be advised of the requirements set forth in the Domestic 

Partner Affidavit to add said partner. Furthermore, said employee has been advised there could be tax implications for 

adding a domestic partner. 

The Domestic Partner of an Employee shall be: 

• A “life partner of either the same sex or opposite sex of the employee;

• Not legally married or separated, to either the employee or anyone else;

• At least 18 years of age and mentally competent to consent to contract;

• Are each other’s Domestic Partners and intend to remain so indefinitely;

• Have been each other’s Domestic Partner for at least 12 months prior to the date of the signed Affidavit;

• Are not related by blood to a degree of closeness that would prohibit marriage in the State of Maine

• Are jointly responsible for each other’s common welfare; share financial obligations and share their primary

residence.”

Unfinished Business Item: 6C – Finance Committee Ordinance 

Manager’s Commentary: At the November 27 meeting, we discussed either amending the Finance Committee Ordinance 

or considering its repeal.  Based on the conversation and transition to a Town Manager Plan in Newcastle’s form of 

government, the recommendation was to consider its repeal.  Should this be the direction the Select Board would like to 

go, while not required by law (as this is not a land use ordinance), we could start having a public hearing to gather any 

additional feedback on this ordinance repeal ahead of a Special Town Meeting.   

A Possible motion: “To schedule a public hearing to repeal the Finance Committee Ordinance for January 8, 2024.” 

Fiscal Warrants: 8A – FY24 Twelfth AP Warrant 

Manager Commentary: This can be found starting on PAGE 88.  

A Possible motion: “To approve the twelfth FY24 AP Warrant.” 

4

https://www.newcastlemaine.us/sites/g/files/vyhlif6211/f/agendas/2023-11-13_select_board_agenda_and_packet.pdf
https://www.newcastlemaine.us/sites/g/files/vyhlif6211/f/agendas/2023-11-27_select_board_agenda_and_packet.pdf


Town of Newcastle  
FARM SPACE CLASSIFICATION 

REMOVAL PENALTY 
Supplemental Warrant 

Title 36 M.R.S.A. sec. 1101-1121 

TO: Michelle Cameron, Tax Collector of the Municipality of Newcastle, County of Lincoln, and 
the State of Maine  

GREETINGS: 
Hereby is committed to you under our hands granted by ME. Title 36 Sec. 1101-1121 the 
assessment of Farm Space Classification withdrawal penalty.  

You are hereby directed to levy and collect of each of the several persons named in the said 
list their respective proportion, therein set down of the sum of  

Three Thousand Seven Hundred Sixty-Two Dollars and Five Cents; 
($ 3,762.05), 

it being the amount of said list. We do hereby certify that the list of assessments of estates 
of the persons named in said list is a supplemental assessment made by virtue of Title 36, 
Section 1101-1131 and Title 36 sec. 713-B, as amended. 

2023-2024 001 Wanda Wilcox $ 3,762.05 
Newcastle Assessors Map 008-052-00C Account 14148 

This penalty reflects the withdrawal from Farm Space Classification the formerly contiguous 
lots of Map 008 Lot 52-C; Map 008 Lot 52-D and Map 008 Lot 49 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, We have given under our hand December 11 2023 

___________________ _____________________ 
Karen Paz Joel Lind 

___________________ ______________________ 
Tor Glendinning Thomas Kostenbader 

___________________ 
Rufus Percy 

5A

5



This certifies to the municipal clerk of Newcastle, Maine the proposed ordinance 
entitled “Newcastle Fireworks Ordinance” to be acted upon by the voters at a 
town meeting to be held on Monday, June 18, 2012. 

Dated: May 28, 2012    Municipal Officers of Newcastle, Me: 

______________________________    _____________________________ 

Brian Foote, Chair                                             Ellen Dickens 

______________________________    _____________________________ 

            R. Benjamin Frey                                                   Patricia Hudson 

______________________________ 

5B1

6



WHEREAS, the Maine legislature approved legislation to make the sale and possession of consumer fireworks legal; 
and 

WHEREAS, the law took effect on January 1, 2012; and 

WHEREAS, the law includes a provision that allows municipalities to adopt an ordinance to prohibit or restrict the 
use of consumer fireworks within the municipality; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the Town of Newcastle to strictly control the use of fireworks within the 
Town; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN OF NEWCASTLE THAT, THE NEWCASTLE FIREWORKS 
ORDINANCE BE ENACTED AS FOLLOWS: 

A. TitleAuthority 
This Ordinance shall be known as the Newcastle Fireworks Ordinance.  This Ordinance is enacted pursuant 
to Title 8 Chapter 9A of the Maine Revised Statutes. 

B. Purpose 
The purposeThis of this Ordinance was developed is to provide for the general welfare,assure  safe and 
healthful conditions, and to prevent injury and nuisance from the careless use of fireworks. 

C. Conflict With Other Ordinances 
This Ordinance shall not repeal, annul, or in any other way impair the necessity of compliance with any 
other rule, regulation, bylaw or provision of the Federal State or Local Government.  In any conflict 
between this Ordinance and any other Ordinances, the stricter Ordinance, rule, regulation or bylaw shall 
control. 

D. Validity and Severability 
Should any section or provision of this ordinance be declared by the Courts to be invalid, such decision 
shall not invalidate any other section or provision of this Ordinance. 

E. Effective Date 
The effective date of this Ordinance is its date of enactment. 

F. Amendment 
All amendments to this Ordinance shall be made at a Town meeting of Newcastle by a majority vote of 
the governing body. 

G.C. Definitions 

The following definitions shall apply in ethis Ordinance: 

CONSUMER FIREWORKS‐‐Consumer fireworks shall have the same meaning as in Title 27, Code 
of Federal Regulations. Section 555.11 or subsequent provision, but includes only products that 

              Ellen McFarland  

5B1

7



Consumer Product Safety Commission standards. in accordance with 15 United States Code. 
Chapter 47. "Consumer fireworks" does not include the following products: 

 

i.

 

Missile‐type rockets. as defined by the State Fire Marshal by rule;:
 

 

ii.

 

Helicopters and aerial spinners, as defined by the State Fire Marshal by rule;:   and
 

 

iii.

 

Sky rockets and bottle rockets. For purposes of this paragraph, "sky rockets and bottle
 

rockets" means cylindrical tubes containing not more than 20 grams of chemical

 

composition, as defined by the State Fire Marshal by rule, with a wooden stick attached
 

for guidance and stability that rise into the air upon ignition and that may produce a
 

burst of color or sound at or near the height of flight.
 

 

DISPLAY‐‐Display means an entertainment feature where the public is admitted or permitted to 
view the display or discharge of fireworks or special effects. 

 

H.D. Prohibition 

 

1.

 

Prohibition against any use of Consumer Fireworks Within 100 Feet of a Public Way

 

No person shall use, display, throw, drop, or cause to be discharged or exploded, any consumer

 

fireworks or fireworks at any time, within one hundred (100) feet of any public way.
 

 

2. All Other Fireworks 
State law prohibits the sale and possession of all fireworks, with the exception of Consumer 
Fireworks.  8 M.R.S.A. §223. 

 

I.E. Exception. This Ordinance does not apply to a person issued a fireworks display permit by the Town of
 

Newcastle and/or the State of Maine pursuant to 8 M.R.S.A. §227‐A.  The Newcastle Fire Chief shall 
inspect the proposed display site at the time of the inspection conducted by a representative of the 
Maine Public Safety Department under 8 M.R.S.A. § 227‐A (2).  

J.F. Seizure and disposal of fireworks. The Town may order the Lincoln County Sherriff or another law 
enforcement official to seize consumer fireworks that the Town has probable cause to believe are used, 
possessed, or sold in violation of this Ordinance and shall forfeit seized consumer fireworks to the State 
for disposal.  

K.G. Violations and penalties. 
Whoever violates any of the terms of this Ordinance shall be punished by a fine of not less than $100 nor 
more than $2,500 for each offense, plus attorney’s fees and costs. In all other respects, assessment of 
penalties under this Ordinance shall be in accordance with 30‐A M.R.S.A. § 4452. 

H. Conflict With Other Ordinances 
This Ordinance shall not repeal, annul, or in any other way impair the necessity of compliance with any 

are tested and certified by a 3rd‐party testing laboratory as conforming with United States 

5B1

8



between this Ordinance and any other Ordinances, the stricter Ordinance, rule, regulation, or bylaw shall 
control.  

I. Validity and Severability 
Should any section or provision of this ordinance be declared by the Courts to be invalid, such decision 
shall not invalidate any other section or provision of this Ordinance.  

J. Effective Date 
The effective date of this Ordinance is its date of enactment.  

K. Amendment 
All amendments to this Ordinance shall be made at a Town meeting of Newcastle by a majority vote of 
the governing body.  

 

other rule, regulation, bylaw, or provision of the Federal, State, or Local Government.  In any conflict 

5B1

9



Town of Newcastle 
FIREWORKS ORDINANCE 

1. AUTHORITY

This Ordinance is enacted pursuant to Title 8 Chapter 9A of the Maine Revised Statutes.

2. PURPOSE

This Ordinance was developed to assure safe and healthful conditions and to prevent injury and

nuisance from the careless use of fireworks.

3. DEFINITIONS

The following definitions shall apply in this Ordinance:

CONSUMER FIREWORKS - Consumer fireworks shall have the same meaning as in 

Title 27, Code of Federal Regulations. Section 555.11 or subsequent provision but includes 

only products that are tested and certified by a 3rd-party testing laboratory as conforming 

with United States Consumer Product Safety Commission standards. in accordance with 15 

United States Code. Chapter 47. "Consumer fireworks" does not include the following 

products: 

i. Missile-type rockets. as defined by the State Fire Marshal by rule;

ii. Helicopters and aerial spinners, as defined by the State Fire Marshal by rule;

and

iii. Sky rockets and bottle rockets. For purposes of this paragraph, “sky rockets

and bottle rockets” means cylindrical tubes containing not more than 20

grams of chemical composition, as defined by the State Fire Marshal by rule,

with a wooden stick attached for guidance and stability that rise into the air

upon ignition and that may produce a burst of color or sound at or near the

height of flight.

DISPLAY - Display means an entertainment feature where the public is admitted or 

permitted to view the display or discharge of fireworks or special effects. 

DRAFT

5B2

10



4. PROHIBITION

4.1. Prohibition against any use of Consumer Fireworks Within 100 Feet of a Public 

Way No person shall use, display, throw, drop, or cause to be discharged or exploded, any 

consumer fireworks or fireworks at any time, within one hundred (100) feet of any public 

way. 

4.2. All Other Fireworks  

State law prohibits the sale and possession of all fireworks, with the exception of 

Consumer Fireworks.  8 M.R.S.A. §223. 

5. EXCEPTION

This Ordinance does not apply to a person issued a fireworks display permit by the Town of

Newcastle and/or the State of Maine pursuant to 8 M.R.S.A. §227-A.  The Newcastle Fire Chief

shall inspect the proposed display site at the time of the inspection conducted by a

representative of the Maine Public Safety Department under 8 M.R.S.A. § 227-A (2).

6. SEIZURE AND DISPOSAL OF FIREWORKS

The Town may order the Lincoln County Sherriff or another law enforcement official to seize

consumer fireworks that the Town has probable cause to believe are used, possessed, or sold in

violation of this Ordinance and shall forfeit seized consumer fireworks to the State for disposal.

7. VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES

Whoever violates any of the terms of this Ordinance shall be punished by a fine of not less than

$100 nor more than $2,500 for each offense, plus attorney’s fees and costs. In all other respects,

assessment of penalties under this Ordinance shall be in accordance with 30-A M.R.S.A. § 4452.

8. CONFLICT WITH OTHER ORDINANCES

This Ordinance shall not repeal, annul, or in any other way impair the necessity of compliance

with any other rule, regulation, bylaw, or provision of the Federal, State, or Local Government.

In any conflict between this Ordinance and any other Ordinances, the stricter Ordinance, rule,

regulation, or bylaw shall control.

9. VALIDITY AND SEVERABILITY

Should any section or provision of this ordinance be declared by the Courts to be invalid, such

decision shall not invalidate any other section or provision of this Ordinance.

DRAFT

5B2

11



 

 

10. EFFECTIVE DATE 

The effective date of this Ordinance is its date of enactment. 

 

11. AMENDMENT 

All amendments to this Ordinance shall be made at a Town meeting of Newcastle by a majority 

vote of the governing body. 

 

 

 

 

Legislative History: 

June 18, 2012 – Adopted 

December 5, 2023 – Amendments drafted for Select Board / Town Meeting consideration 

DRAFT

5B2

12



Alwives Reserve Fund
Date Fund was
created:

Mills Ladder was
interlocal effort
between Nobleboro
& Newcastle in
1807

Purpose: The stone fish ladder that is the centerpiece of
Damariscotta Mills was constructed by the Towns
of Nobleboro and Newcastle because, for nearly
a century, mills blocked access for fish to the
freshwater falls.

Balance as of June 30, 2021 Audit

12/6/21 Rec'd from
Nobleboro

Nobleboro will take expenses out of profits and
then mail Newcastle a check $92,660.28

12/20/22 Rec'd
from Nobleboro $124,659.07

11/27/23 Fish Ladder Restoration Fund/Town of Nobleboro $17,590.56 Bridge Replacement $107,068.51

$61,976.54
Appropriated

Funds
Date of

Town Meeting
Warrant

Date Vendor/Expenditure Discription Amount Notes Balance

E 208-91-01

$30,683.74

$31,998.79

Town of Newcastle Reserve Funds - DRAFT

December 11, 2023

5C

13



Newcastle Building Reserve Fund
Date Fund was created: 1975 (?) Purpose: Fund Municipal Building expenditures

Balance as of June 30, 2021 Audit

6/8/21 $105,434.59
8/9/21 LCTV/Television Invoice 6575 Community Room $98,859.59

2/28/22 Waltz Electric $490.89 Community Room $98,368.70
4/11/22 Meserve Mechanical $24,726.16 Community Rm Heat Pump $73,642.54
5/9/22 Seacoast Security/Install Monitoring $5,704.45 Fire Station $67,938.09

6/21/22 $117,938.09
8/18/22 Seacoast Securty $5,779.45 Monitoring Fire Station $112,158.64
9/26/22 Robert Bishop/Overhead Door Repair $3,363.00 Fire Station $108,795.64
10/3/22 Dimauro Electric/Outside & Closet Lights $1,393.55 Community Room $107,402.09
10/3/22 Creative Office Resources/Town Office $4,847.73 Office Furniture $102,554.36

1/9/23 Creative Office Resources/Town Office $851.65 L-Shaped Desk 50% down $101,702.71
1/23/23 Creative Office Resources/Town Office $3,233.82 Office Chairs $98,468.89
1/23/23 Creative Office Resources/Town Office $7,536.18 Office Furniture - Various $90,932.71
1/23/23 Creative Office Resources/Town Office $851.66 L-Shaped Desk 50% Final Pymt $90,081.05
1/23/23 Meserve Mechanical/Repair Heat Pump $8,748.69 Town Office Heat Pumps $81,332.36
4/24/23 Krah Builders Inc/Overhead Door Replacement $14,900.00 Sheepscot Fire Station $66,432.36

5/8/23 Dimauro Electric/Door & Elect Work $2,385.38 Sheepscot Fire Station $64,046.98
6/20/23 $114,046.98

6/26/23 Meserve Mechanical/Repair Heat Pump $631.63 Community Room $113,415.35

$30,434.59
Appropriated

Funds
Date of

Town Meeting
Warrant

Date Vendor/Expenditure Discription Amount Notes Balance

E 210-91-09

$75,000.00

$50,000.00

$50,000.00

5C

14 December 11, 2023

Town of Newcastle Reserve Funds - DRAFT



 Computer Reserve Fund
Date Fund was created: 2007 Purpose: Reserve funds for technology replacement 

Balance as of June 30, 2021 Audit

6/8/21 $13,876.11
6/21/22 $16,876.11
6/20/23 $19,876.11

11/27/23 Lenovo PCS (2) $2,023.89 Emma & Michelle's Computers $17,852.22

$10,876.11
Appropriated

Funds
Date of

Town Meeting
Warrant

Date Vendor/Expenditure Discription Amount Notes Balance

E 209-91-07

$3,000.00
$3,000.00
$3,000.00

Town of Newcastle Reserve Funds - DRAFT

December 11, 2023

5C

15



 Fire Truck Reserve Fund
Date Fund was created: 5/15/23 Purpose: Established to save for the replacement of 1975 Fire Truck or future equipment replacements

Balance as of June 30, 2021 Audit

6/21/22 $50,000.00
6/20/23 $100,000.00

$0.00
Appropriated

Funds
Date of

Town Meeting
Warrant

Date Vendor/Expenditure Discription Amount Notes Balance

E 212-91-11

$50,000.00
$50,000.00

Town of Newcastle Reserve Funds - DRAFT

December 11, 2023

5C

16



 Fringe Benefit Reserve Fund
Date Fund was created: 6/21/2022 Purpose: Established to fund withdrawls from benefits accrued

6/8/21 $12,000.00

7/7/21 Jon Duke Retirement (EBT payout) $12,000.00
Jon resigned - EBT paid into

retirement $0.00
6/21/22 $12,000.00

5/9/23 Jodee Kelley EBT Payout $539.26 $11,460.74
6/15/23 Zach EBT Payout $1,046.49 $10,414.25
6/15/23 Shelly EBT Payout $2,166.30 Per Personnel Policy $8,247.95

6/20/23 $20,247.95
7/6/23 Sarah Macy EBT Payout $2,316.26 $17,931.69

10/30/23 Ray Simmons EBT Payout $164.22 $17,767.47
10/30/23 Carol Simmons EBT Payout $81.90 $17,685.57

E 206-91-10
Appropriated

Funds
Date of

Town Meeting
Warrant

Date Vendor/Expenditure Discription Amount Notes Balance

$12,000.00

$12,000.00

$12,000.00

Town of Newcastle Reserve Funds - DRAFT

December 11, 2023

5C

17



 Harriet Bird Playground Reserve Fund
Date Fund was created: 10/15/1975

Playground was
deeded to town

Purpose: Maintain Property

Balance as of June 30, 2021 Audit

6/8/21 $15,842.06
6/21/22 $17,342.06
6/20/23 $18,842.06

$14,342.06
Appropriated

Funds
Date of

Town Meeting
Warrant

Date Vendor/Expenditure Discription Amount Notes Balance

E 205-91-05

$1,500.00
$1,500.00
$1,500.00

Town of Newcastle Reserve Funds - DRAFT

December 11, 2023

5C

18



 Revaluation Reserve Fund
Date Fund was created: did not find a start

date for this but
going back to the
70s, the town
funded this reserve
off and on during
the years

Purpose: Cover revaluation expenses

Balance as of June 30, 2021 Audit

6/8/21 $23,215.33
12/28/21 Murphy Appraisal Services 42,352.09 -$19,136.76

6/21/22 $863.24
6/20/23 $13,363.24

6/26/23 Murphy Appraisal Services $15,000.00 -$1,636.76

$3,215.33
Appropriated

Funds
Date of

Town Meeting
Warrant

Date Vendor/Expenditure Discription Amount Notes Balance

E 211-91-08

$20,000.00

$20,000.00
$12,500.00

Town of Newcastle Reserve Funds - DRAFT

December 11, 2023

5C

19



Road Capital Projects
Going back through
the years the town
budgeted for Road
repair and
maintenance off
and on.

Purpose: Our audit identifies this as "Road Equipment Reserve" but it's been used for maintenance and repair on town roads as well.
We label it as Road Capital Projects

Balance as of June 30, 2021 Audit

6/8/21 $805,433.54
8/23/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/Reclaim W. Old Cty Rd $35,000.00 $770,433.54
8/23/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/Surface Stonebridge $74,115.00 $696,318.54
8/23/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/W.Old Cty Rd Paving $138,450.00 $557,868.54
8/23/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/Reclaim/Pave High St $4,500.00 $553,368.54
8/23/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/AH/Timber Ln/Stonebridge $4,500.00 $548,868.54
8/23/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/AH/Timber Ln/Stonebridge $19,550.00 $529,318.54
8/23/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/AH/Timber Ln/Stonebridge $13,725.00 $515,593.54
8/23/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/Reclaim/Pave High St $49,300.00 $466,293.54
8/23/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/AH/Timber Ln/Stonebridge $87,250.00 $379,043.54
9/13/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/Reclaim Sheepscot FS $5,000.00 $374,043.54
9/27/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/W.Old Cty Rd Equipment $5,000.00 $369,043.54
9/27/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/Sheepscot FS $5,000.00 Catch Basin Install $364,043.54
10/4/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/W.Old Cty Rd Paving $138,450.00 Invoice#4911 $225,593.54
10/4/21 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/Sheepscot FS $24,490.00 Paving $201,103.54

6/21/22 $1,056,633.54
11/14/22 Hagar Enterprises,Inc/Station Rd Rebuild $300,000.00 $756,633.54
11/28/22 Hagar Enterprises,Inc/Station Road $200,000.00 $556,633.54
11/28/22 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/West Old Cty Road $164,169.07 $392,464.47
12/12/22 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/Station Road $100,000.00 $292,464.47

1/9/23 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/Station Rd/Escalator $6,630.87 $285,833.60
2/13/23 Hagar Enterprises,Inc/Station Road $13,450.00 $272,383.60
2/13/23 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/West Old Cty Road $19,090.00 $253,293.60
3/27/23 Hagar Enterprises,Inc/Academy Hill $1,910.90 Fuel Escalator (Dec) $251,382.70
3/27/23 Hagar Enterprises,Inc/Academy Hill $4,963.92 Fuel Escalator (Jan) $246,418.78
3/27/23 Hagar Enterprises,Inc/Academy Hill $2,397.34 Fuel Escalator (Feb) $244,021.44

Date Fund was created: 

$118,699.54
Appropriated

Funds
Date of

Town Meeting
Warrant

Date Vendor/Expenditure Discription Amount Notes Balance

E 202-50-48

$686,734.00

$855,530.00

Town of Newcastle Reserve Funds - DRAFT

December 11, 2023

5C

20



4/23/23 Hagar Enterprises,Inc/Academy Hill $2,158.85 Fuel Escalator (Mar) $241,862.59
6/30/23 Hagar Enterprises,Inc/Main Street Sidewalk Paving $29,500.00 $212,362.59

6/20/23 $1,067,892.59
10/23/23 Hagar Enterprises, Inc/Recon Station Rd $154,050.00 $913,842.59

$855,530.00

Town of Newcastle Reserve Funds - DRAFT

December 11, 2023

5C

21



 Veterans Park Reserve Fund
Date Fund was
created: 1991 & funded
in 1992

Owned by the State
of Maine

Purpose: To honor Newcastle Veterans

Balance as of June 30, 2021 Audit

6/8/21 $6,221.73
6/21/22 $6,471.73
6/20/23 $6,721.73

6/26/23 Damariscotta Hardware/Flag $69.99 $6,651.74

$4,971.73
Appropriated

Funds
Date of

Town Meeting
Warrant

Date Vendor/Expenditure Discription Amount Notes Balance

E 203-91-03

$1,250.00
$250.00
$250.00

Town of Newcastle Reserve Funds - DRAFT

December 11, 2023

5C

22



Alewife Committee
Governed by: ??
Website: https://damariscottamills.org/

Members Term
From To

James Brinkler 7/1/2023 6/30/2024 in Trio Database

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

23

https://damariscottamills.org/


Ad-hoc Historic Preservation Committee
Governed by: Select Board Authorization accepted on January 30, 2023
Website: https://www.newcastlemaine.us/planning-department/ad-hoc-historic-preservation-committee

Members Term
From To

Catherine Burke on website
Tor Glendinning on website
Karen Leavitt Paz on website
Ben Frey on website
Bonnie Stone on website

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

24

https://www.newcastlemaine.us/sites/g/files/vyhlif6211/f/minutes/january_30_2023approved_minutes.pdf
https://www.newcastlemaine.us/planning-department/ad-hoc-historic-preservation-committee


Board of Appeals
Governed by: Core Zoning Code (page 92)
Website: https://www.newcastlemaine.us/board-appeals

Members: 5 Term
From To

Greg Gerbi 7/1/2021 6/30/2024 Trio/website
Leonardo M De Azevedo Expired, interested in re-appointment in Trio Database
Lydia Crafts 7/1/2022 6/30/2024 Trio/website
Merle Parise 10/21/22 6/30/2025 Trio/website
Roger Wilcox 7/1/2021 6/30/2024 Trio/website

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

25

https://www.newcastlemaine.us/sites/g/files/vyhlif6211/f/uploads/2020-11-03-core-zoning-code-1.pdf
https://www.newcastlemaine.us/board-appeals


Broadband Committee (Joint with Damariscotta)?
Governed by: ??
Website: https://www.newcastlemaine.us/broadband-committee

Members Term
From To

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

26

https://www.newcastlemaine.us/broadband-committee


Finance Committee
Governed by: Finance Committee Ordinance 
Website: https://www.newcastlemaine.us/finance-committee

Members: 7 Term
From To

John Mills 8/16/2021 6/30/2024 in Trio Database

Expired/missing info
Eva Frey 3/16/2021 6/30/2022 in Trio Database
Gates Torrey 11/1/2021 6/30/2022 in Trio Database
John Hartman 7/1/2019 6/30/2022 in Trio Database
Tom Ruggerio in Trio Database

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

27

https://www.newcastlemaine.us/sites/g/files/vyhlif6211/f/uploads/finance-committee-adopted-06-20-2016-1.pdf
https://www.newcastlemaine.us/finance-committee


Great Salt Bay Sanitary District
Governed by: ??
Website: https://www.newcastlemaine.us/great-salt-bay-sanitary-district

Elected: 2 Term
From To

Allan Ray 7/1/2021 6/30/2024 in Trio database
Louis Rector 7/1/2022 6/30/2025 in Trio database

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

28

https://www.newcastlemaine.us/great-salt-bay-sanitary-district


Harbor Committee (joint with Damariscotta)
Governed by: Harbor Management Ordinance
Website: https://www.newcastlemaine.us/harbor-committee

Members 3 from Newcastle Term
From To

Chip Holmes 7/1/2022 6/30/2025 in Trio database
Expired?  or re-appointed?

David Lawrence 7/1/2020 6/30/2023 Trio/website
Gisela Heimsath-Rhodes 7/1/2019 6/30/2022 Trio/website
Eric Peters 2020 website

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

29

https://www.newcastlemaine.us/sites/g/files/vyhlif6211/f/uploads/harbor-management-ordinance.pdf
https://www.newcastlemaine.us/harbor-committee


Harriet Bird Playground Committee
Governed by: ??
Website: https://www.newcastlemaine.us/harriet-bird-clubhouse

Members 5 Term
From To

Edna Verney Trio/website
Carol Juchnik Trio/website
Christine Wajer Trio/website
David O'Neal Trio/website
James Mercer Trio/website

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

30

https://www.newcastlemaine.us/harriet-bird-clubhouse


Newcastle Historical Society
Governed by: Separate 501c3 with a Trustee seat appointed by the Select Board*
Website: https://nhsmaine.org/

Members 7 Term (officers:1 year, trustees: 3 years
From To

Arlene Cole SB appointed
Carolyn Watson
Elizabeth Evans
Karen Campbell
Karen Paz
Scott Brooke
Tim Dinsmore

*Found a draft 2009 document of the NHS by-laws

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

31

https://nhsmaine.org/


Newcastle Veteran Park Committee
Governed by: ??
Website: ??

Members Term
From To

Betsy Evans 7/1/2019 6/30/2020 trio/oath docs
Ellen McFarland 7/1/2019 6/30/2020 trio/oath docs
Allan Ray 7/1/2019 6/30/2020 trio/oath docs
Ann Houlton 7/1/2019 6/30/2020 trio
Calvert Hurdle 7/1/2019 6/30/2020 trio

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

32



Planning Board
Governed by: Core Zoning Code (page 92)
Website: https://www.newcastlemaine.us/planning-board

Members 5 Term
From To

Ben Frey 7/1/2020 6/30/2024 oath / expired in Trio
Kevin Houghton expired in Trio / no oath
Lucas Kostenbader 7/1/2022 6/30/2025
Peter McNaughton expired in Trio / no oath
MEMBER VACANT 
ALTERNATE VACANT
ALTERNATE VACANT

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

33

https://www.newcastlemaine.us/sites/g/files/vyhlif6211/f/uploads/2020-11-03-core-zoning-code-1.pdf
https://www.newcastlemaine.us/planning-board


Shellfish Conservation Committee (joint with Damariscotta)
Governed by: Shellfish Conservation Ordinance 
Website: https://www.newcastlemaine.us/shellfish

Members 3 Term
From To

Heather Leslie 7/1/2022 6/30/2025 trio/website
Sandy Paulsen 9/30/2021 6/30/2024 trio
Robert Wallace website

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

34

https://www.newcastlemaine.us/sites/g/files/vyhlif6211/f/uploads/joint-shellfish-conservation-ordinance-approved-6.12.17.pdf
https://www.newcastlemaine.us/shellfish


Newcastle School Committee
Governed by: ??

AOS local agreement
Website: https://www.greatsaltbayschool.org/o/gsbs/page/gsb-school-board

Members 3 Term
From To

Dennis Anderson 6/9/2021 June 2024 website/oath
Meredith Verney 6/24/2022 June 2025 website/oath
Elizabeth Ball 6/15/2023 June 2026 website/oath

Review of Newcastle Boards and Committees - DRAFT

12/5/2023

5D

35

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Z_PPCeu_ZaAcABLJwkKEoEvS7IilRc7s
https://www.greatsaltbayschool.org/o/gsbs/page/gsb-school-board


Aquaculture Meeting 

November 21, 2023, 6 p.m. 

Coastal Rivers Conservation Trust 

3 Round Top Lane, Damariscotta 

I. Welcome and Introductions‐Tom Anderson

II. Purpose of Meeting‐Tom Anderson

II. Current Aquaculture Environment

a. DMR presentation (~20 minutes)

b. Local Issues‐All (~20 minutes)

i. Damariscotta River
1. Results of joint Shellfish Committee/Darling research project ending September

2023

ii. South Bristol (incl. Pemaquid Harbor)
iii. Medomak River

IV. Concerns/Questions‐All (~30 minutes)

a. Aquacultural businesses
b. Fishermen, sailors, emergency personnel, kayakers, boaters, etc.
c. Harvesters

d. Riparian users
e. Towns

f. Scientists

V. The Future‐DMR and Aquaculture Businesses (~ 15 minutes)

a. Projections relative to increased aquaculture, and other uses as populations of both grow
b. The Water bodies (re climate change, etc.)

1. 5 years
2. 10 years
3. 20 years

c. Long Range Plan for Aquaculture growth and concentrations on water bodies

VI. Open discussion (~ 10 minutes)

VII. Adjournment

5E1

36



NEWCASTLE SCHOOL COMMITTEE
Special Meeting

Thursday, Nov 30, 2023- 6:00 PM
Great Salt Bay School Library

Agenda

Call to Order – Board Chair:

Pledge of Allegiance

Roll Call - Superintendent:
□ Dennis Anderson □ Betsey Ball □ Meridith Verney

Adjustments to Agenda

Public Comment:

New Business:

● Strategic Vision 2025 update- Options for Notice of Intent(s)

○ Motion to consider options and notice(s) of intent to be filed

Motion ______________ Second _______________ Vote: ________

Adjournment: Without objection, the Chair declared the meeting adjourned at ____p.m.

5E2

37



Agenda
Newcastle Planning Board Meeting

November 30, 2023, 6:30 PM
Meeting location: Clayton V. Huntley Jr. Fire Station, 86 River Road

1. Call to Order

2. Old Business
none

3. New Business
none

4. Other Business
Shoreland Zoning Ordinance Review and Amendments

5. Adjourn

5E3

38



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  1 

TOWN OF NEWCASTLE 

PERSONNEL POLICY 

& MANUAL 

SELECT BOARD 

Karen Paz, Chair  _______________________________ 

Joel Lind _______________________________ 

Tor Glendinning    _______________________________ 

Thomas Kostenbader  _______________________________ 

Rufus Percy  _______________________________ 

Amended: December 11, 2023 
Effective:  January 1, 2024

6A

39



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  2 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
  

I.  PREAMBLE ...................................................................................................... 3 
II.  EMPLOYMENT ................................................................................................ 4 

III.  EMPLOYMENT DISCRIMINATION ............................................................. 5 
IV.  TYPES OF APPOINTMENT ............................................................................ 6 
V.  ANNOUNCEMENT OF VACANCIES ............................................................ 7 

VI.  PUBLIC AND EMPLOYEE RELATIONS ...................................................... 8 
VII.  WORK WEEK/OVERTIME ............................................................................. 9  

VIII.  EARNED PAID LEAVE ................................................................................. 10 
IX.  LEAVE/LEAVES OF ABSENCE ................................................................... 13  
X.  HEALTH INSURANCE .................................................................................. 16 

XI.  INCOME PROTECTION ................................................................................ 17 
XII.  RETIREMENT ................................................................................................ 18 

XIII.  EXPENSES/JURY DUTY ............................................................................... 19 
XIV.  SAFETY ........................................................................................................... 20 
XV.  POLITICAL ACTIVITY ................................................................................. 24 

XVI.  HARASSMENT ............................................................................................... 25 
XVII.  DRUGS, ALCOHOL & TOBACCO ............................................................... 28 

XVIII.  RESIGNATION ............................................................................................... 29 
XIX.  DISCIPLINARY ACTION .............................................................................. 30 
XX.  GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE  ......................................................................... 33 

XXI.  SELECT BOARD ............................................................................................ 34 
XXII.  CONFLICT OF INTEREST ............................................................................ 35 

XXIII.  EMAIL/INTERNET ........................................................................................ 39 
XXIV.  DISABILITY ACCOMODATION ................................................................. 40 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

6A

40



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  3 

I. PREAMBLE 

 
A. The Select Board hereby adopts the following policy for utilization by the Town of Newcastle in 

the administration of the personnel activities of all employees, committee members, board 
members (including the Select Board) and volunteers.  These rules and subsequent modifications 
shall supersede any policy and rules made previously by the Select Board.  This policy may be 
modified by the Select Board at its discretion and may be further modified by town voters. 
 

B. The purpose of prescribing these rules and regulations is to set forth a uniform and equitable 
system of personnel administration for the Town of Newcastle, to promote more effective and 
efficient municipal operations on behalf of the citizenry, and to pursue positive employee 
morale. 
 

C. The Select Board may delete, amend, modify, or change any or all of the policy by posting the 
proposed change in a conspicuous place at the Newcastle Town Office and by emailing such a 
notice to all employees at least thirty (30) calendar days in advance of the meeting at which the 
Select Board propose to make modifications or changes.  Changes may be made only with 
approval by a majority of the Select Board with all five (5) members present at the time of 
voting. 
 

D. A copy of this policy shall be provided to all employees upon the commencement of their 
employment and any amendment or revision of this policy shall be provided to all employees as 
amendments or revisions become effective. 
 

E. All employees will sign a receipt within one week of being given a copy of the policy, which 
receipt shall confirm that the employee has read the policy and has been given an opportunity to 
discuss with the Town Manager any portions of the policy which the employee feels needs 
clarification. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6A

41



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  4 

II. EMPLOYMENT 
 

A. The employment of personnel shall be the responsibility of the Town Manager. 
 

B. All applicants must submit a written and completed application based on the format outlined in 
the job advertisement.   
 

C. All employees are considered probationary for the first six (6) months of employment.  The 
probationary period shall be considered an extension of the selection process.  Probationary 
employees may be removed at any time during the probationary period without cause and 
without right to file a grievance. 
 

D. An applicant who has been convicted of a felony may be excluded from employment if the Town 
Manager determines that the applicant’s conviction bears upon their ability to faithfully perform 
the proposed duties of the job. 
 

E. Hiring, firing, and disciplinary action, except for those positions precluded by Maine State Law, 
shall be the responsibility of, and at the discretion of, the Town Manager.  The employee shall be 
notified of such action in writing.   
 

F. Employees shall be mindful of the fact that they are representatives of the Town of Newcastle 
and that their actions reflect on the public image of the Town as a whole.  Employees shall 
always conduct themselves in a respectful and helpful manner and shall exhibit appropriate 
behavior during all communications and conduct with the public. 
 
  

6A

42



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  5 

III. EMPLOYMENT DISCRIMINATION 
 
Policy:  It is the policy of the Town to offer equal employment opportunities to all job applicants 
and employees.  Appointments and promotions are based solely upon qualifications and 
experience and are free of consideration of race, color, religion, gender, age, marital status, 
national origin, or disability. 
 
Procedure:  Any complaints alleging unlawful discrimination shall be submitted in writing to 
the Town Manager who will arrange a meeting with the aggrieved party to discuss the matter.  
The meeting shall take place within five (5) business days from receipt of a written complaint.  
All information will be held in confidence and will be discussed only with those who have a 
need to know in order to either investigate or resolve the complaint.  The Town Manager shall 
have ten (10) business days from receipt of a written complaint to conduct an investigation and 
to attempt to resolve the matter to the satisfaction of the aggrieved party. 
 
If the Town Manager is unable to resolve the matter to the satisfaction of the aggrieved party 
within ten (10) business days of receipt of the complaint, the aggrieved party may submit a copy 
of the written complaint to the Select Board.  Such a submission shall be made within fifteen 
(15) business days of the original complaint to the Town Manager.  If a complaint involves the 
conduct of the Town Manager, it may be submitted directly to the Select Board without first 
being submitted to the Town Manager. 
 
The Select Board shall then have fifteen (15) business days from receipt of the written complaint 
to investigate and to issue a report, with its findings and recommendations, to the Town 
Manager.  The Town Manager shall, within five (5) working days of the receipt of the report, 
notify the aggrieved party of the results of the investigation conducted by the Select Board. 
 

  

6A

43



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  6 

IV. TYPES OF APPOINTMENT 
 

A. FULL-TIME – A full-time employee works 35 to 40 hours per week on a continuing basis.  They 
are subject to all personnel rules and regulations as set forth in this document and at the 
discretion of the Town Manager for the safety and welfare of the Town and for the Employee in 
performing Town business.  This classification shall be assigned at the discretion of the Town 
Manager.   The employee receives all benefits and rights as provided by these rules. 
 

B. REGULAR PART-TIME – An employee in this classification works more than 20 hours per 
week but no more than 30 hours per week, on a continuing basis.  They are subject to all 
personnel rules and regulations set forth in this document and at the discretion of the Town 
Manager for the safety and welfare of the Town and for the Employee in performing Town 
business.  This classification shall only be assigned at the discretion of the Town Manager.  The 
Town Manager will determine whether employees in this classification are entitled to benefits 
such as retirement, health insurance, or seniority, and unless outlined in this policy or mandated 
by the State Worker’s Compensation and Unemployment Compensation Insurance Laws. 

 
 

C. IRREGULAR PART-TIME – An employee in this classification works less than 20 hours a 
week on a continuing basis. They are subject to all personnel rules and regulations set forth in 
this document and at the discretion of the Town Manager for the safety and welfare of the Town 
and for the Employee in performing Town business.  This classification shall only be assigned at 
the discretion of the Town Manager.  They are not entitled to benefits such as retirement, health 
insurance, or seniority, and unless outlined in this policy or mandated by the State Worker’s 
Compensation and Unemployment Compensation Insurance Laws. 

 
 

D. TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES – Seasonal/temporary employees work on a non-permanent basis, 
usually within a limited time frame; seasonal employees work in an industry designated by the 
State of Maine as a seasonal industry.  The employee is terminated at the end of the applicable 
season.  They are not entitled to benefits such as retirement, health insurance, holiday pay, 
Earned Paid Leave, or seniority, unless mandated by the State Worker’s Compensation and 
Unemployment Compensation Insurance Laws.  They may be terminated for any reason at any 
time.  This classification may be assigned at the discretion of the Town Manager. 

 
 

E. OTHER EMPLOYEES – All committee members, board members, volunteers, those working on 
stipend pay, and those paid from fees collected by the Town of Newcastle are employees as well. 
  

6A

44



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  7 

V. ANNOUNCEMENT OF VACANCIES 
 
Recruitment notices shall be prepared setting forth a basic description of the position, minimum 
qualification requirements or education, skill, and experience preference, application steps to 
follow, and closing date for submitting application materials.  Such notices shall affirm the Town 
of Newcastle as an Equal Opportunity Employer.  Such notice shall first post on bulletin boards 
in each town work site.  Supervisors shall be aware of promotion-ready employees and shall 
encourage application where appropriate.  Notice may be given outside the town office, if 
necessary, to develop a broad base of applicants.  The use of such various media or publicity 
may be expected to bring notice of vacancies to an adequate number of qualified applicants.  
  

6A

45



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  8 

VI. PUBLIC AND EMPLOYEE RELATIONS 
 

A. Town employees are public servants. Residents and the general public must be treated with 
courtesy, kindness and consideration.  Every employee should remember that they might be the 
only contact a resident has with their local government.  The impression that the employee 
makes will be long lasting and possibly determine how the resident feels about the local 
government.  Failure of an employee to act with reasonable courtesy may result in disciplinary 
action or dismissal depending on the severity of the incident.  Employees are expected to practice 
a high level of personal hygiene, dress neatly, and conduct themselves in a professional manner. 
 

B. Employees are prohibited from engaging in any conduct which could reflect unfavorably upon 
the Town or disrupt the efficient operation of Town Administration.  Town employees must 
avoid any action which might result in, or create the impression of, using public employment for 
private gain, giving preferential treatment to any person, or allowing complete impartiality in 
conducting town business. 

 
C. Cooperation, courtesy, and responsibility shall extend to relations between all employees of the 

Town and the Public. 
 

D. The following policies and regulations are provided to assist the employees and Town 
Administration in functioning at peak efficiency with minimal cost to the taxpayers: 
 

1. Receipt of gifts:  A Town employee is prohibited from soliciting or accepting any gifts, 
gratuity, favor, entertainment, loans or any other item of monetary value from any 
person, within or outside Town employment, whose interest may be affected by the 
employee’s performance or nonperformance of his or her official duties.  Acceptance of 
nominal gifts, such as food and refreshments in the ordinary course of business meetings 
or unsolicited advertising or promotion materials such as pens, note pads, calendars, etc.is 
permitted. 

 
2. Business Activities and Solicitations:  No employee shall engage in any business other 

than their regular duties during work hours, except for reciprocal notary services. 
 

3. Confidentiality:  Many Town employees have access to confidential information 
pertaining to persons or property in the town.  Employees must not use this privileged 
information to their private advantage or to provide friends or acquaintances with private 
advantages.  Each employee is charged with the responsibility of releasing only 
information, which is allowed under Maine’s Right to Know Law (1 MRSA §401-410). 

 

6A

46



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  9 

VII. WORK WEEK/OVERTIME 
 

A. Work Week:  The regular work week for payroll purposes begins on Sunday and ends Saturday 
at midnight.  The Town Manager shall set the hours for the Town employees. 
 

B. Overtime and Compensatory Time:  Employees not exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act 
shall receive overtime pay in excess of forty (40) hours worked per week.  Work means that 
there were no holidays or vacation time in that week.  All overtime shall be paid at the rate of 
one- and one-half times the employee’s normal rate of pay.  At the discretion of the Town 
Manager, overtime may be compensated with Compensatory Time for hours worked beyond 
forty (40) in a work week at a rate of not less than one and one-half hours for each hour worked 
for which overtime compensation is required.  Such compensatory time shall be granted on a 
time and a half basis for hours worked beyond forty (40) in one week after any holiday and 
vacation time. Compensatory time, which may be accrued by any non-exempt employee, shall 
not exceed a balance greater than 40 hours (i.e., not more than 26.67 of actual overtime hours 
worked). An employee who has accrued the maximum number of compensatory hours shall be 
paid overtime compensation for any additional overtime hours worked. An employee shall be 
permitted to use accrued compensatory time within a reasonable period after it is requested if to 
do so would not unduly disrupt the operations of the department. Compensatory time will not 
accrue until after 40 hours have been worked. The Town Manager may adjust work schedules to 
minimize the need to pay overtime as permitted by the Act. All overtime work must be 
authorized by an appropriate supervisor or by the Town Manager. The Town further reserves the 
right to assign employees to use accrued compensatory time if the Town deems it in the Town’s 
best interests. Payment for accrued compensatory time upon dismissal of employment shall be 
calculated at the employee’s regular rate of pay at the time of dismissal or separation. 
 

C. Inclement Weather: Employees will be paid regular time for workdays when the office is closed 
due to inclement weather. When a workday is abbreviated due to inclement weather, the 
employee will be paid for the remainder of their regularly scheduled workday. The Town 
Manager shall determine when inclement weather warrants closing the office and inform the 
Select Board and the general public. Upon prior approval by the Town Manager, employees may 
use Earned Paid Leave if the office remains open in spite of inclement weather. 
  

6A

47



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  10 

VIII.  EARNED PAID LEAVE 
 
Eligibility: 
Full-Time and eligible Regular Part-Time employees are eligible to accrue Earned Paid Leave 
(EPL) upon employment. EPL is utilized for any short term paid leave including vacations or 
illnesses. Regular Part-Time employees must earn more than $1,000 annually to be eligible for 
EPL.  
 
Accrual: 
EPL is accrued based on the number of paid hours up to 40 hours per week (exclusive of 
overtime or other special payment). EPL is also accrued during leaves of absence with pay but is 
not accrued during leaves of absence without pay. The EPL accrual rate increases with the 
employee’s length of continuous service. 
 
Full-Time Accrual 
Year One – 144 Hours (2.772 hours per week) (.0693 per hour) 
Start of Years Two (2) through Ten (10) – 176 Hours (3.384 hours per week) (.0846 per hour) 
Start of Years Eleven (11) through Twenty (20) – 225 Hours (4.328 hours per week) (.1082 per 
hour) 
Start of Twenty One (21) years – 272 Hours (5.232 hours per week) (.1308 per hour) 
 
If a separated full-time employee who previously met the eligibility period returns to full-time 
work within six (6) months, the employee will not have to repeat the two-month eligibility period 
and prior eligible service will count toward years of continuous service. EPL accrual upon re-
hire shall be at the same accrual rate as in effect upon separation from employment. Separations 
include voluntary resignations and changes to per diem status. 
 
Regular Part-Time Accrual 
Eligible employees shall accrue 1 hour of EPL for every 40 hours worked. Such accrual shall be 
recorded following the submission of each time sheet. Eligible employees, as determined by the 
Town Manager to be eligible for greater accrual rates of EPL, shall follow the rules of Full-Time 
employees listed above.  
 
Irregular Part-Time Accrual 
Eligible employees shall accrue 1 hour of EPL for every 40 hours worked. Such accrual shall be 
recorded following the submission of each time sheet. For fire fighters, the amount accrued shall 
be calculated on the submission of pay at the first payroll warrants in June and December. 
 
Approval: 
The use of EPL must be approved by the Town Manager in writing by submitting an email with 
the request.  Every reasonable effort will be made to grant EPL as requested. However, 
department staffing needs must be given priority. Requests for EPL are to be made to the Town 
Manager with reasonable notice of two weeks prior to EPL usage, though emergencies, illnesses, 
and other sudden necessities may prevent ample opportunity for notice.  
 

6A

48



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  11 

For Full Time employees, EPL may be advanced up to the amount that would be accrued in that 
employment year.  Any Earned Paid Leave advanced, if not eventually accrued because of 
dismissal or separation, shall be refunded either by a reduction in the employee’s final paycheck, 
or, if necessary, in a payment from the terminated or separated employee to the Town. 
 
Maximum Accrual: 
A Full-Time employee may accrue up to a maximum of 400 hours of EPL. An eligible Regular 
Part-Time employee may accrue up to a maximum of 40 hours of EPL.  No time shall be accrued 
beyond the maximum hours allotted respectively. 
 
Managing Your EPL: 
Accumulated EPL can provide some insurance against loss of income during an illness or other 
emergency. Employees are encouraged to retain an adequate amount of EPL to help protect 
against such a loss. It is each employee’s responsibility to manage their EPL properly, ensuring 
that EPL is available for the unforeseen illness/emergency, and at the same time, avoid 
exceeding the maximum accrual. During each year of service, the Town of Newcastle 
encourages employees to take time off from the job for rest and relaxation.  
 
Payment in Lieu of Time Off: 
On an annual basis, the Town Manager may approve “EPL cash out.” Employees must announce 
the amount they wish to cash out by June 30th and cash out payments will be issued the first 
payday in July. No EPL will be accrued on EPL cash out. Full Time employees may cash out a 
portion of their EPL balance in 40-hour increments but must maintain a minimum of 100 hours 
of EPL. Eligible Regular Part Time employees may cash out the entirety of their EPL balance.  
 
Departure: 
In the event an employee has ended their employment with the Town of Newcastle, the balance 
of the employee’s EPL shall be paid within 14 days of the employee’s final day of work.  
 
Usage: 
Following two months of eligible employment employees will be eligible to utilize EPL and EPL 
must be used to cover all leaves of absence, (unless specifically stated otherwise); bringing the 
employee’s paid hours up to their regular scheduled hours. EPL cannot be used as paid time in 
excess of the employee’s regular scheduled work. 
 
EPL may not be utilized during the first two months of eligibility except for emergencies or 
illness documented by a medical note from the employee’s health care provider. Deaths not 
covered under the Town of Newcastle bereavement policy are eligible for EPL, if EPL is 
available. 
 
  

6A

49



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  12 

Holidays:  
Holiday pay is granted only to Full-Time employees and is based upon the average hours worked 
on that given workday. Paid holidays include: 
 

New Year’s Day   Martin Luther King Jr. Day   
Presidents Day   Patriots Day   
Memorial Day    Juneteenth 
Independence Day   Labor Day     
Indigenous People’s Day  Veteran’s Day   
Thanksgiving Day   Day after Thanksgiving  
Christmas Eve    Christmas Day  

 
Holidays are scheduled according to the calendar established annually by the Maine Department 
of Administrative and Financial Services. 
  

6A

50



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  13 

IX. LEAVE/LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

 
A. Bereavement Leave:  A Full-Time employee may be excused from work for up to five (5) work 

days for the death of an immediate family member, as outlined below, and shall be paid their 
regular rate of pay for the scheduled work hours missed. In the event of the death of an 
employee’s spouse, domestic partner, child, or parent, the employee shall, upon request, be 
granted five (5) additional days of paid bereavement leave. Additional leave may be granted by 
the employer’s supervisor but will be unpaid or will be paid through the utilization of EPL. 
 

B. For purposes of this article only, immediate family is defined to mean spouse, domestic partner, 
child, parent, sibling, parent-in-law, grandparent, and grandchild. 
 

C. Leave without pay:  An employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay at the 
discretion of the Town Manager. Employees who are granted a leave of absence may not 
accumulate EPL time. 

 
However, it is the employee’s responsibility to manage their EPL, according to their needs.. 
Time off without pay is strongly discouraged and should be an extreme exception. EPL not 
managed properly that results in one or more instances of time off without pay may result in 
disciplinary action 

 
From time to time, it may be necessary for an employee to be unexpectedly absent from work. 
The Town is aware that emergencies, illnesses, or pressing personal business may arise that 
cannot be scheduled outside an employee’s work hours. The Town encourages employees who 
are sick to stay home and not report to work. If a staff member reports to work and is clearly 
sick, they may be sent home by the supervisor and the appropriate amount of EPL will be 
deducted from their EPL balance. 

 
When an employee is not able to work due to illness, the employee must, when possible, inform 
the Town Manager at least 30 minutes prior to the start time for that day. After three days of 
failing to call in, the Town may assume the employee has resigned from their position and the 
Town Manager will begin dismissal proceedings. 

 
For any illness extending continuously for five consecutive work days, the Town may ask the 
employee to obtain a doctor’s certification to confirm the illness and the need for the employee 
to be out of work, and the anticipated date of the return to work. 

 

6A

51



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  14 

Unplanned absences may be considered excessive if they occur frequently or if they show a 
pattern. An unauthorized absence may lead to disciplinary action and possible dismissal of 
employment. 
 

D. Family Medical Leave:  An employee who has been employed for 12 consecutive months and 
has worked 1,250 hours during that period is entitled to a total of twelve (12) weeks of family 
medical leave in any twelve (12) month period.  Leave shall be unpaid unless the employee has 
accumulated vacation or paid time off to apply to the leave request.  The employee must give at 
least thirty (30) days’ notice of intended date upon which family medical leave will commence 
and terminate, unless prevented by medical emergency from giving such notice.  The employee 
is entitled to be restored to the position held by the employee when the leave began or an 
equivalent position with equivalent pay and benefits.  
 

1. Leave may be consecutive, intermittent, or on reduced hourly schedule if the 
employee and the Town agree or if medically necessary.  This leave may be 
requested and must be granted for the birth of a child, adoption of a child, 
placement of a foster child, or for serious illness of the employee, their spouse or 
domestic partner, child, or parent.  Serious illness is defined to include an 
accident, illness, or condition posing imminent danger of death, transplant, limb 
amputation, or other similarly severe procedure and/or mental or physical 
condition requiring constant in home care.  The Town shall require medical 
certification of the need for leave and written approval from the physician before 
returning to work. 

 
E. Leave for Victims of Domestic Violence:  In accordance with Maine Law, the Town will grant 

employees a reasonable and necessary amount of time off from work without pay if the 
employee is a victim of domestic violence, domestic assault, sexual assault, or stalking and the 
employee requires time to: 
 

1. Prepare for or attend court proceedings, 
 

2. Receive medical treatment, or 
 

3. Obtain necessary services to remedy a crisis caused by domestic violence, sexual 
assault, or stalking. 

 
Employees must request the leave as soon as circumstances make it clear that time off is 
necessary.  Approval of leave will be dependent upon (a) whether the absence will create an 
undue hardship for the Town, (b) whether the employee requested leave within a reasonable 

6A

52



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  15 

time, and (c) whether the requested leave is impractical, unreasonable or unnecessary given the 
facts made available to the Town at the time of the request. 
 
If the employee’s leave is approved, the employee will be required to first use any accrued EPL 
before taking unpaid leave.  EPL does not accrue during leave and holidays are not paid while on 
leave.  However, employees may be allowed to continue fringe benefits, such as health and 
dental insurance, at the employee’s own expense.  Employees will not be discriminated against 
for taking or asking for leave. 
 

 
F. Parental Leave: A regular full-time employee who has completed at least one full year of 

employment with the Town will be granted an additional four (4) weeks of paid time upon the 
birth or adoption of their child. This can be used in addition to unpaid Family Medical Leave and 
short-term disability coverage approved for the same reason. Such time shall also be in addition 
to the employee’s current EPL balance. Parental Leave expires 12 months after the date of birth 
or placement. 
  

6A

53



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  16 

X. HEALTH INSURANCE 
 

A. Eligibility:  Only Full-Time employees are eligible to receive health insurance coverage paid by 
the town.  
 

B. Coverage: The Town utilizes the Maine Municipal Employee’s Health Trust (MMEHT) to offer 
insurance coverage to its full-time employees. The MMEHT utilizes its financial reserves to 
stabilize rates for its members to remain a competitive choice for Maine municipalities. 
Employees may choose between MMEHT’s POS-C or POS 200. 

 
C. Effective January 01, 2024, The Town of Newcastle will allow any employee who is eligible to 

enroll in the employer benefits the option of enrolling a domestic partner.* 
 
Any employee who wishes to add a domestic partner will be advised of the requirements set 
forth in the Domestic Partner Affidavit to add said partner. Furthermore, said employee has been 
advised there could be tax implications for adding a domestic partner. 
 
The Domestic Partner of an Employee shall be: 

 A “life partner of either the same sex or opposite sex of the employee; 

 Not legally married or separated, to either the employee or anyone else; 

 At least 18 years of age and mentally competent to consent to contract; 

 Are each other’s Domestic Partners and intend to remain so indefinitely; 

 Have been each other’s Domestic Partner for at least 12 months prior to the date of 
the signed Affidavit; 

 Are not related by blood to a degree of closeness that would prohibit marriage in the 
State of Maine; 

 Are jointly responsible for each other’s common welfare; share financial obligations 
and share their primary residence.  

 
D. Cost: The town will pay 85% toward either of the Town sponsored plans above. All employees 

are responsible for premium costs which exceed the Town’s contribution or any additional 
insurance coverage which is deducted from the employee’s pay through the month prior to 
month covered. 
 

E. Opt Out: Employees who do not chose to accept the Town’s sponsored coverage will receive a 
stipend in the amount of $1,000 per year. 

  

6A

54



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  17 

XI. INCOME PROTECTION 
 

A. Eligibility:  Only Full-Time employees are eligible to receive short term disability coverage paid 
by the town. Other town employees are eligible to receive benefits, but the cost of the plan is the 
employee’s responsibility.  
 

B. Coverage:  The Town utilizes the Maine Municipal Employee’s Health Trust (MMEHT) to offer 
insurance coverage to its employees. The MMEHT offers plans which provide income benefits 
to employees who are unable to work due to non-job-related accidents, injuries, or illnesses.  
 

C. Cost:  The town will pay 100% of the value of MMEHT’s income protection plan which covers 
55% of the employee’s salary. If an employee wishes to have a plan with further coverage, the 
cost difference will be the employee’s responsibility. Employees may utilize any available EPL 
to further extend their coverage. 
  

6A

55



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  18 

XII. RETIREMENT 
 

A. Eligibility:  Only Full-Time employees are eligible to receive retirement contributions paid by 
the town. Other town employees are eligible to participate in retirement accounts, but the 
contributions made to that account are employee’s responsibility.  
 

B. Coverage: The Town utilizes Mission Square, formerly known as the International City 
Managers Association – RC (ICMA-RC) to fund employer contributions to their employees’ 
retirement. Mission Square offers a variety of investment vehicles for employees to utilize to 
invest their retirement funds. The Town holds no obligation to assist in the decision-making 
process as to where and how an employee invests their funds within Mission Square. 
 

C. Cost: The town will fund a 401A account in the amount of 10% of the full-time employee’s 
salary. The employee may choose to fund an additional amount into a 457-plan established in 
their name as well through a payroll deduction.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6A

56



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  19 

XIII.  EXPENSES/JURY DUTY 
 

A. Expenses:  Employees who use their own motor vehicle in the performance of their duties shall 
be reimbursed at the prevailing mileage rate established annually by the Internal Revenue 
Service.  Other travel related expenses (tolls, parking, etc.) shall be reimbursed upon production 
of a receipt for said expenses, signed by the employee’s immediate supervisor. Meals will be 
reimbursed at a rate not to exceed $25 per meal, unless prior approval was obtained by the Town 
Manager. 
 

B. Jury Duty:  The Town Manager must be notified as soon as an employee receives a summons for 
jury duty.  Upon conclusion of jury service, a certificate from the Clerk of Court verifying the 
dates of service must be obtained.  The Town shall pay an employee their normal pay.  
Remuneration received from the court must be turned over to the town; minus mileage 
reimbursement.  The employee must report to work on days (or partial days) when service is not 
required by the court or when excused early. 

 
C. Court Subpoenas: The Town Manager must be notified as soon as an employee receives a 

summons to testify in court.  Upon conclusion of service, a certificate from the Clerk of Court 
verifying the dates required must be obtained.  The Town shall pay an employee their normal 
pay.  The employee must report to work on days (or partial days) when service is not required by 
the court or when excused early. 
  

6A

57



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  20 

XIV. SAFETY 
 

General 
 
The Town considers the health and safety of its employees to be essential to its mission and vital 
to the efficient operations of the Town.  To accomplish this, the Town is committed to providing 
a safe workplace for its employees and to complying with all state and federal safety regulations. 
 
Safety is a team effort.  Accidents, which are generally caused by unsafe acts, unsafe conditions, 
or a combination of both, can have a direct effect on employees, customers and Town property.  
We recognize that the success of any accident prevention effort depends on the cooperation and 
active support of you, your co-workers, managers and supervisors. 
 
The federal Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) has established mandatory 
safety guidelines for business and appropriate safety procedures have been instituted throughout 
the Town.  Working safely and complying with such safety procedures is a condition of 
employment – required by our policies and by law.  You are responsible for cooperating in the 
prevention of injuries to yourself and/or others by observing the following safety rules: 
 

a. Know your duties and perform them in the safest possible manner, following proper 
work methods. 
 

b. Understand and adhere to safety policies and procedures; comply with all Town 
safety requirements of any safety equipment and/or clothing. 

 
c. Avoid accidents by being alert to, identifying and correcting unsafe conditions and 

practices; keep premises free of safety hazards. 
 
d. The Town has invested in equipment that is designed to enable you to do your work 

more efficiently and effectively; you are responsible for the proper care and use of 
this equipment to maintain it in good operating condition. 

 
e. If you are operating a vehicle – your own or the Town’s – as part of your job duties, 

you are always expected to observe all traffic regulations and practice safe driving. 
 
f. Immediately report to your supervisor all identified hazards, unsafe conditions and/or 

practices, defective or malfunctioning equipment, and any illness, accident or 
discomfort experienced in the workplace. 

 

6A

58



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  21 

Work-Related Accidents and Injuries 
 
Any accident, minor or major, could result in personal suffering and an inability to perform your 
work well.  While every effort is made to ensure that your working environment is as safe as 
possible, your alertness, cooperation and awareness of accident hazards are key.  If you become 
aware of a hazard, it is your duty to let your supervisor know as soon as possible.  Please 
exercise personal caution and good judgment in all your work.  Your well-being and that of 
fellow employees and customers is everyone’s responsibility. 
 
A work-related accident or injury is one that occurs during the hours that you are at work and is 
directly caused by activities that you perform as part of your job.  If you are injured while 
performing work-related duties, or experience a work-related illness, you must report it to your 
supervisor immediately, even if the injury is a seemingly minor one.  Failure to promptly report 
an injury could affect your ability to obtain workers’ compensation benefits later. 
 
If medical attention is required, you will be sent to the Town’s occupational health provider and 
will be asked to provide information regarding the circumstances of your injury or illness, 
including its nature and severity.  When you must lose time from work as a result of your injury, 
you are expected to keep your supervisor informed, on a regular basis, of your recovery status 
and return-to-work plans.  The Town will make every reasonable effort to accommodate your 
return to work as quickly as possible. 
 
Fire and Emergency Procedures 
 
While our facilities are maintained and as secure as possible against fire hazards, there may be 
occasions when a fire or other emergency will require prompt action, including evacuation of the 
building.  Please speak with your supervisor about emergency procedures for your work area. 
 
Security 
 
The Town has instituted measures to safeguard your personal security, as well as Town facilities, 
products, and equipment.  You are expected to follow all Town and department security 
procedures.  Please speak with your supervisor regarding security procedures for your work area. 
 
Use of Vehicles 
 
Personal Vehicle:   If you are required to use your personal vehicle for approved business 
purposes, you will receive a vehicle allowance equal to the current Town mileage reimbursement 
rate which matches the federal mileage reimbursement rate.  This allowance is to compensate for 
the cost of gasoline, oil, depreciation, and insurance and is reimbursed to you upon submission of 

6A

59



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  22 

the proper documentation.  The mileage reimbursement is paid only for miles driven on Town 
business. In addition, you may claim reimbursement for parking fees and tolls actually incurred 
while on Town business.  Your supervisor must approve all reimbursement claims before they 
are submitted to the Town Treasurer. 
 
In order to use your own vehicle for approved business purposes, you must have a valid 
unrestricted license from the state in which you operate and a current vehicle inspection sticker.  
You must also provide proof of insurance; minimum required limits are $100,000/$300,000 
bodily injury and $20,000 property damage. 
 
Town-Owned Vehicles:   You may have a Town vehicle assigned to you for regular, temporary, 
or occasional use.  If you are assigned a Town vehicle, you are completely responsible for its 
care, safe operation, and appropriate use.  You are expected to obey all federal, state, and local 
traffic laws and Town policies, and to always demonstrate safe and courteous driving habits.  
The following rules pertain to the use of Town-owned vehicles: 
 

a. Vehicles assigned for use during normal working hours only are to be garaged at 
Town designated facilities overnight.  Vehicles assigned to you for your continuing 
use may, with supervisory permission, be stored at locations other than Town 
facilities.  Managers are responsible for the custody of vehicles assigned to their 
departments. 
 

b. Non-employees are permitted to ride in Town vehicles for business-related reasons or 
in emergency situations but are not permitted to drive Town vehicles.  At no time 
may a Town vehicle be used by anyone other than you or loaned to anyone, including 
your family members. 

 
c. Except as expressly authorized by management, Town vehicles – including cars, 

trucks and plows – are not to be borrowed, used for personal use, or used to transport 
non-employees in situations unrelated to Town business. 

 
d. If personal use of a Town vehicle is authorized, accurate records must be maintained 

regarding business-use mileage and personal-use mileage for tax reporting purposes.  
Personal use of a Town vehicle may be treated as a taxable benefit to you under IRS 
guidelines. 

 
e. You are always expected to use good judgment and common sense when using Town 

vehicles.  This includes using fuel conservation techniques (i.e., shutting off engines 
when vehicles are left unattended), observing speed limits, and using hands free cell 
phone devices in a safe manner (e.g., be aware of traffic around you and don’t use 

6A

60



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  23 

phones in heavy traffic; the best course of action is to pull out of traffic while using).  
It is always required that seat belts be used in all Town-owned vehicles, whether you 
are a driver or passenger. 

 
f. You are responsible for paying any fines associated with parking, speeding, or other 

traffic violation tickets that are issued while the vehicle is assigned to you.  Because 
your driving record and accident history have a direct impact on insurance coverage 
costs paid by the Town, repeated traffic violations or motor vehicle accidents will 
result in loss of vehicle privileges and may be cause for disciplinary action. The 
Town may conduct driver license and/or driving record checks annually or if need 
arises. 

  

6A

61



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  24 

XV. POLITICAL ACTIVITY 
 
While performing their normal work duties, employees shall not seek or accept nomination or 
election to any office in the Town government and shall not use their influence publicly in any 
way for or against any candidate for elective office or any current cause within the town 
government.  This rule is not to be construed to prevent employees from becoming or continuing 
to be members of any political organization, from attending political meetings, from expressing 
their views on political matters outside of work, or from voting with complete freedom in any 
election. 
 

Failure to abide by this rule shall result in disciplinary action.  
  

6A

62



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  25 

XVI. HARASSMENT 

 
 
Policy:   
 
It is the policy of the Town that all our employees should be able to work in an environment free 
from all forms of harassment.  Harassment, as defined by this policy, is prohibited.  This policy 
refers not only to supervisor-subordinate actions, but also to actions between co-workers.  Any 
complaints of harassment will be investigated promptly.  There will be not intimidation, 
discrimination or retaliation against any employee who makes a report of harassment. 
 
Sexual Harassment: 
 
It is illegal for any employee to sexually harass another employee and for any supervisory 
employee to permit any act of sexual harassment in the workplace by anyone. 
 
DEFINITION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT UNDER STATE LAW 
 
Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of 
a sexual nature constitute sexual harassment when: 
 

a. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition 
of an individual’s employment; 

 
b. Submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for 

employment decisions affecting such individual; or 
 

c. Such conduct has the purpose or effect of substantially interfering with an 
individual’s work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive 
working environment. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT 
 
The following type of conduct is considered to be sexual harassment and is not permitted: 
 

a. Physical assaults of a sexual nature such as: 
 

(1) Rape, sexual battery, molestation, or attempts to commit these assaults; and 

6A

63



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  26 

(2) Intentional physical conduct which is sexual in nature, such as touching, pinching, 
patting, grabbing, brushing against another employee’s body, or prodding another 
employee’s body. 

 
b. Unwanted sexual advances, propositions or other sexual comments, such as: 

 
(1) Sexually oriented gestures, noises, remarks, jokes, or comments about a person’s 

sexuality or sexual experience directed at or made in the presence of any 
employee who indicates or has indicated in any way that such conduct in their 
presence is unwelcome. 

 
(2) Preferential treatment or promise of preferential treatment to an employee for 

submitting to sexual conduct, including soliciting or attempting to solicit any 
employee to engage in sexual activity for compensation or reward; and 

 
(3) Subjecting, or threats of subjecting, an employee to unwelcome sexual attention 

or conduct or intentionally making performance of that employee’s job more 
difficult because of that employee’s sex.   

 
c. Sexual or discriminatory displays or publications anywhere on municipal grounds by 

employees, such as: 
 

(1) Displaying pictures, posters, calendars, graffiti, objects, promotional materials, 
reading materials, or other materials that are sexually suggestive, sexually 
demeaning, or pornographic, or bringing into the work environment or possessing 
any such material to read, display or view at work. 

 
(2) Reading or otherwise publicizing in the work environment materials that are in 

any way sexually revealing, sexually suggestive, sexually demeaning, or 
pornographic; and 

 
(3) Displaying signs or other materials purporting to segregate an employee by sex in 

any area of the workplace (other than restrooms and similar semi-private 
lockers/changing rooms). 

 
Other Types of Harassment: 
 
Derogatory or vulgar comments regarding a person’s sex, religion, age, ethnic origins, physical 
appearance, or the distribution of written or graphic material having such an effect, are 
prohibited. 

6A

64



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  27 

 
Reporting of Harassment: 
 
Any employee who believes they have been the subject of such harassment should report the 
alleged conduct to a supervisor or the Town Manager.  Any supervisor or employee who is 
found, after appropriate investigation, to have engaged in any harassment will be subject to 
discipline, up to and including discharge. 
 
Training: 
All employees must participate in a Harassment/Sexual Harassment training course  
  

6A

65



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  28 

XVII. DRUGS, ALCOHOL & TOBACCO 
 

A. Tobacco. No use of tobacco products, including cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, and electronic 
cigarettes, is permitted within the facilities or on any Town-owned property at any time. 
“Property” means the organization’s facilities “curb to curb,” including offices, grounds, 
adjacent sidewalks, parking lots, town owned vehicles, and employee vehicles parked on owned 
and leased property. 
 

B. Drugs and Alcohol.  The Town of Newcastle retains the right and responsibility to expect each 
employee to report for work and to perform their duties in a manner which does not jeopardize 
the health and safety of co-workers and the public.  Work performance impaired by alcohol or 
drugs, both legal and illegal, poses a threat to the well-being of employees and the public.  
Further, the State recognizes that an employee's consumption of drugs and alcohol, both on and 
off the job, can have a detrimental impact in the workplace.  Therefore, it is the Town’s policy to 
maintain an alcohol and drug-free work environment. 
 
In order to protect the health and safety of all Town employees and the general public, the policy 
follows: 

 
Whenever employees are working, operating any Town vehicle, operating a personal vehicle on 
Town business, present on Town premises, representing the Town, or conducting Town-related 
work offsite, they are prohibited from: 

a) using, possessing, buying, selling, manufacturing, or dispensing drugs or alcohol; 
b) being under the influence of alcohol or any drug as defined in this policy. 

 
Drug: any substance that adversely affects an employee’s ability to safely and effectively 
perform their job duties. 
 
Any employee who is under the influence of alcohol or drugs (as defined in this policy), or who 
possesses or consumes alcohol or drugs on the job or in the workplace has the potential for 
disrupting their own, as well as their co-workers', safe and efficient performance of duties.  Such 
employees shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including dismissal of employment. 
 
Any illegal substance found in the workplace will be turned over to the appropriate law 
enforcement agency and may result in criminal prosecution. 
 
Any employee who is convicted of a criminal drug statute violation occurring on the job or in the 
workplace shall be terminated.  
 
 

6A

66



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  29 

XVIII. RESIGNATION 
 

To remain in good standing upon departure with the Town of Newcastle, all employees resigning 
from Town employment will give a written two-week notice. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6A

67



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  30 

XIX. DISCIPLINARY ACTION 
 
Introduction:  
 
Whenever, in the supervisor’s judgment, an employee’s performance, attitude, work habits, or 
personal conduct at any time falls below an acceptable level, the supervisor will inform the 
employee promptly and specifically of such lapses and give counsel and assistance.  If 
appropriate and justified, a reasonable period of time for improvement may be allowed before 
initiating disciplinary action.  In some instances, a specific incident in and of itself may justify 
severe disciplinary action, up to and including immediate discharge. The action to be taken 
depends on the seriousness of the incident and of the employee’s past performance and conduct.  
Supervisors/department heads shall report any disciplinary action taken to the Town Manager 
within 48 hours of the incident which prompted the disciplinary action.  This time limit excludes 
Saturdays, Sundays and holidays. 
 
Appeal: 
 
An employee who feels that they have been treated unfairly shall have access to the grievance 
procedure as outlined in these rules and regulations. 
 
Alcohol and Drug Abuse: 
 

a. Policy:  It is the policy of the Town to recognize alcohol and drug abuse as a treatable 
disease.  However, it is not the intent of the Town to accept below standard performance 
nor to restrict supervisors in dealing with performance problems. 
 

b. Whenever appropriate, the Town shall refer employees to appropriate agencies and 
organizations to seek treatment.  However, the possession, sale, or use of drugs (as 
defined in XVII. Drugs, Alcohol, and Tobacco) on the employer’s premises is strictly 
prohibited and is grounds for immediate dismissal.  The use of alcohol on premises is 
also prohibited, and is grounds for dismissal, except at Town sanctioned events (i.e., 
receptions, etc.) 

 
Unacceptable Conduct: 
 
Disciplinary action, up to and including immediate dismissal, may result from performance, 
attitude, work habits, or personal conduct that falls below an acceptable level.  Unacceptable 
conduct includes, but is not limited to, the following: 
 

a. Insubordination:  refusal to comply with the proper order of an authorized supervisor. 

6A

68



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  31 

 
b. Theft or destruction:  stealing, misappropriation of Town funds; or carelessly or willfully 

causing destruction of Town property. 
 

c. Intoxication or Disgraceful Conduct:  conduct under the influence of intoxicants (see also 
section b of XVII. Drugs. Alcohol, and Tobacco) while on duty whenever behavior 
threatens order, safety, health, or public respect for the Town service and when such 
conduct is solely the fault of the employee. 

 
d. Discourtesy:  discourtesy to the public, supervisors, or co-workers while on the job. 

 
e. Poor Attendance:  habitual tardiness, excessive absence, abuse of sick leave, or absence 

without authorized leave. 
 

f. Acceptance of monetary fees:  acceptance of money or other valuable consideration given 
with the intent of influencing the employee in the performance of their official duties. 

 
g. Improper use of authority:  use of official position or authority for personal profit or 

advantage. 
 

h. Falsification of Records:  including, but not limited to falsification of application papers. 
 

i. Poor Job Performance:  evidence of continued unsound judgment in performing official 
duties or failure to comply with the adopted policies and procedures of the Town. 

 
j. Sale of Goods or Services to the Town:  Any attempt to sell materials, goods, services, 

etc., to the Town in which a Town employee may receive financial gain or remuneration. 
 

k. Criminal Activity:  conviction for any criminal activity may be cause for the dismissal  of 
employment. 

 
Reprimands, Suspensions, Discharge: 
 
Disciplinary action may include, but is not limited to, some or all of the following.  If appropriate 
and justified, a reasonable period of time for improvement may be allowed before initiating any 
disciplinary action.  In general, three warnings will be given before suspension or dismissal.  In 
some instances, however, a specific incident in and of itself may justify severe disciplinary 
action, up to and including immediate discharge. The action to be taken depends on the 
seriousness of the incident and of the employee’s past performance and conduct. 
 

6A

69



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  32 

a. Oral Reprimand is defined as a verbal notice to an employee that their behavior or 
performance must be improved or corrected.  An oral reprimand may be given by the 
immediate supervisor and should define the improvement or corrective action required.  
The supervisor should inform the employee that failure to comply with the oral warming 
will result in more serious action.  Supervisors shall record the date and the subject of the 
oral reprimand, and this record shall be placed in the employee’s personnel file. 

 
b. Written Reprimand is defined as a written notice to an employee that their performance 

or behavior must be improved or corrected.  Such notice may be given by an immediate 
supervisor and shall contain a statement of the cause for the action, improvement or 
corrective action required of the employee, time frames for such action, and possible 
results of the employee’s failure to comply.  Written reprimands shall be placed in the 
employee’s personnel file.  An employee receiving a written reprimand may respond to 
the action and a copy of the response shall be attached to the reprimand. 

 
c. Suspension is defined as the temporary removal of an employee from duty without pay.  

An employee on suspension will not receive holiday pay nor accumulate sick time and 
personal time.  Suspension should be used when all other means have been tried without 
success and it is believed that suspension will bring about the required improvement in 
the employee’s behavior or performance, or when the cause is sufficiently serious to 
warrant such action.  The decision to suspend an employee shall be the responsibility of 
the Town Manager. 

 
d. Discharge is defined as the removal of an employee from Town service.  Discharge will 

be used when all other means of improving the employee’s behavior have failed, or when 
the nature of the misconduct warrants this action.  The decision to discharge an employee 
shall be the responsibility of the Town Manager. 

  

6A

70



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  33 

XX. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 

Policy:  A grievance is a dispute between any employee and the Town concerning the 
interpretation or application of the terms of employment.  Excluded from consideration as a 
grievance are those matters pertaining to management’s judgments of qualifications and/or 
performance relating to hiring or promotion of personnel, and compensation adjustments, except 
that regular employees may appeal performance evaluations. 
 
Procedures: All Personnel 
 
1. Any employee who perceives a grievance as defined, shall, within ten (10) working days 

submit a written statement / email setting forth the specific nature and details of the 
grievance to their supervisor, who shall attempt to resolve the matter within five (5) working 
days thereafter.  Proceed to Step 2 if neither a nor b below apply: 

a. If the employee does not have a supervisor or if the grievance involves the 
conduct of the employee’s supervisor, the grievance shall be submitted directly to 
the Town Manager (proceed to Step 3). 

b. If the grievance involves the conduct of the Town Manager, the grievance shall be 
submitted directly to the Select Board Chair via email (proceed to Step 5). 

 
2. In the event the matter is not thereby resolved, the employee may within five (5) working 

days following the supervisor’s decision, or failure to act, bring the grievance in writing to 
the attention of the Town Manager. 

 
3. The Town Manager shall schedule a date to hear the grievance of the employee which shall 

be not less than five (5) nor more than ten (10) working days from receipt of the written 
statement.  The Town Manager shall have five (5) working days thereafter in which to 
consider the matter and render a decision in writing.     

 
4. The employee may appeal the decision of the Town Manager to the Select Board within five 

(5) working days by submitting an email request to the Chair of the Select Board and the 
Town Manager. 

 
5. In the event that the Select Board does not make a decision within thirty (30) days from the 

date of correspondence with the Chair of the Select Board (as outlined in Step 1a or step 4 
above), the unresolved issue shall be submitted to Arbitration, as provided by the Municipal 
Public Employees Labor Relations Law.  Expenses of Grievance Procedures and Arbitration, 
if any, shall be divided equally between the Town and the employee.  Each party shall be 
responsible for their own legal fees. 

6A

71



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  34 

XXI. SELECT BOARD 
 
The Select Board shall deal with administrative services solely through the Town Manager and 
will not give orders to any subordinate of the Town Manager either publicly or privately. 
 
This does not prevent Select Board members from appointing committees or commissions of its 
own members or of citizens to conduct investigations into the conduct of any official or 
department, or any matter relating to the welfare of the Town. 
  

6A

72



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  35 

XXII. CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
Section 1.  Statement of Policy 
 
It is the Policy of the Town of Newcastle that the proper operation of democratic government 
requires that public officials be independent, impartial, and responsible to the citizens, that public 
office not be used for personal gain, and that the public have confidence in the integrity of its 
municipal government. 
 
The purpose and intent of this article is to promote the objective of protecting the integrity of the 
government of the Town of Newcastle against actual or reasonably perceived conflicts of 
interest, either financial or because of a personal relationship, without creating unnecessary 
barriers to Public Service. 
 
Section 2.  Definitions 
 
A. Personal Relationship 
 
 The term “personal relationship” means any family, affectional, or social relationship that 
 is characterized by one or more of the following: 
 

1. Persons who are spouses, or parent and child 
2. Persons who share a physical intimacy with each other 
3. Persons who acknowledge an ongoing romantic relationship with each other 
4. Persons who live together in the same residence 
5. Persons who intermingle their financial assets without an accounting of separate 

ownership interests 
6. Financial involvement 

 
B. Financial Involvement 
 

The term financial involvement means any existing (or current efforts toward achieving) 
ownership or investment interest, contract right, significant customer relationship, or 
employment relationship, of or with a public official or a person with whom the public 
official has a personal relationship. 

 
Section 3.   Standard of Conduct 
 
A public official shall refrain from participation as an official in a matter when there is an actual, 
potential, or reasonably perceived conflict of interest arising from a personal relationship or 

6A

73



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  36 

financial involvement that would cause a reasonable person to believe that the public official 
cannot act in their official capacity without self-interest. 
 
Section 4.   Applicability of Conflict of Interest Guidelines 
 
When a Select person, Board member, Town Manager, or other Town official or employee has a 
doubt as to the applicability of a provision of this guideline to a particular situation, they should 
apply to the Select Board for an advisory opinion and be guided by that opinion. 
 
The Select Board, Board member, Town Manager, or other official or employee shall have the 
opportunity to present their interpretation of the facts at issue and of the applicable provision(s) 
of the guideline before such advisory decision is made. 
 
Section 5.   Select Board 
 
No member of the Select Board, or a firm in which they exercise control during their term of 
office, shall be allowed to contract with the town to supply any goods or services unless they are 
procured by a competitive process in which the select person with a conflict of interest has not 
participated as an official. 
 
It shall be the responsibility of the Select Board to assure the public that a select person  having a 
direct or indirect relationship that could be construed as a conflict of interest has recused 
themselves from all participation concerning the service to be rendered.  
 
The action shall be recorded in the minutes of the Select Board. 
 
Should any member of the Select Board seek the opportunity to acquire contractual work for the 
Town, they shall give notice of such interest to the remaining Select Board.  This notice shall be 
placed on the agenda of a regular meeting of the Select Board before bids are advertised for the 
contractual service.  The remaining Select Board shall determine the appropriateness of the 
proposed participation by a member of the Select Board.  The action shall be recorded in the 
official minutes of the meeting. 
 
Section 6.   Other Officials and Employees 
 
Any official or employee of the Town, other than members of the Select Board, who has a 
personal relationship with anyone in any contractual relationship with the Town or who has a 
financial interest, directly or indirectly, in any contractual relationship with the Town, or in the 
sale to the Town of any land, material, supplies, or services, or who is contractor supplying the 

6A

74



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  37 

Town with any services or materials shall make known their specific interests to the Select Board 
in writing before proceeding to deliver the services. 
 
Further, the town official or employee shall refrain from voting upon or otherwise participating 
in any decisions regarding the sale of any contractual services to the Town. 
 
An official or employee of the Town shall be deemed to have direct or indirect financial interest 
under this section when that person has any financial interest in any business retained by the 
Town to perform a service, or has a personal relationship with an officer, director, partner, 
associate, employee, or stockholder for a private corporation business, or other economic entity 
to which this section relates. 
 
Section 7.   Outside Employment 
 
Full-time employment with the Town is considered an individual’s primary employment.  An 
employee may not engage in additional employment which in any manner interferes with the 
proper and effective performance of the duties of their position or results in a conflict of interest.  
Notification of all outside employment shall be provided to the Town Manager. 
 
Section 8.  Use of Town Property 
 
Town-owned vehicles, materials, facilities, or equipment, including shops and tools, shall not be 
used by town employees or their families for any personal or private use without the express 
consent of the Town Manager.  All facilities and equipment are provided by the public and 
should be used only for public uses. 
 
Section 9.  Gifts and Favors 
 
No Board member or other official or employee shall accept any valuable gifts that total more 
than $200.00 per fiscal year, whether in the form of service, loan, thing, or promise, from any 
person, firm, or corporation which, to their knowledge is interested directly or indirectly in any 
manner whatsoever in business dealing with the Town.  Nor shall any such official or employee 
accept any single gift greater than $100.00 or any other favor or thing of value that may tend to 
influence them in the discharge of their duties.  Police officers are governed by the law 
enforcement code of ethics and may not accept any gifts at all. 
 
Section 10.   Employment of Family Members 
 

6A

75



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  38 

The spouses and children of the Town Manager or a member of the Select Board may not be 
employed by the Town, with the exception of employment by the School Department.  The 
spouse or child of any Department Head may not be gainfully employed in their department. 
 
Section 11.   Representing Private Interests Before Town Agencies or Courts 
 
No Board member or other official or employee whose salary is paid in whole or in part by the 
Town shall appear in behalf of private interests before any agency of the Town.  They shall not 
represent private interests in any action or proceeding against the interests of the Town in any 
litigation to which the Town is a party. 
 
A Board member may appear before Town agencies on behalf of constituents in the course of 
their duties as representative of the electorate or in the performance of public or civil obligations.  
However, no Board member or other official or employee shall accept a retainer or compensation 
that is contingent upon a specific action by a Town agency. 
 
Nothing in this guideline shall deny any Board member or other official or employee from 
appearing before any agency of the Town on their own behalf, provided the records of the 
proceedings clearly state the fact that they are appearing on their own behalf, and provided 
further that the nature of their interest is clearly set forth in the records. 
 
Section 12.   Disclosure of Interest in Legislation 
 
A Board member who has a financial or other private interest in any legislation shall disclose on 
the records of the Select Board or other appropriate authority the nature and extent of such 
interest. 
 
Any other official or employee who has a financial or other private interest, and who participates 
in discussion with or gives an official opinion to the Board, shall disclose on the records of the 
Select Board or other appropriate authority the nature and extent of such interest. 
 
Section 13. Violations 
 
Any select person, town official or employee who conceals such financial or personal interest or 
otherwise violates the requirements of this policy, either intentionally or otherwise, may be 
subject to recall or removal from office. 
  

6A

76



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  39 

XXIII. EMAIL/INTERNET 
 

1. “Electronic email, Internet, and telecommunication access are resources made available to Town 
employees to communicate with each other, other governmental entities, companies, and 
individuals for the benefit of the Town”. 
 

2. “The system is Town property and intended for Town business.  The system is not to be used for 
employee gain or to support or to advocate for non-Town related business or purposes.” 
 

3. Acceptable and Unacceptable Activities 
 

a. The use of Town email and internet will not be used to harass another person, business, 
or entity of any kind, any illegal activity, personal gain, or to download personal 
materials.  This may or may not be an exhaustive list of unacceptable practices. 

 
b. All employees with email or internet access shall not intentionally seek information and 

will not use Town resources to obtain anything of a personal nature.  Employees need to 
respect the legal protection of programs and data protected by copyright and license.  
State and federal law prohibits unauthorized use of disclosure of data.  As property of the 
Town the computer systems within it should be protected from harm at all times.  
Unauthorized downloads or the altering of existing systems including hardware and/or 
software is prohibited without written authorization.  This is by no means a 
comprehensive list of accepted or unaccepted uses and if a user has a question they 
should ask.  The occasional personal use of email to communicate with a friend in a brief 
non-offensive manner will be permitted.  Also, the occasional order placed over the 
internet on the employee’s personal credit card is allowed.  The Town understands not 
everyone has a system at home and seeks to be fair and accommodating to its employees. 

 
c. The Town has the right and may from time to time monitor sites visited and other 

computer activity by individual or all users of the system. 
 

d. Personal cell phone use must be limited during office hours. 
 

4. Any violation of this section could result in disciplinary action and some violations will result in 
disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. 
  

6A

77



Town of Newcastle Personnel Policy, January 2024  40 

 

XXIV. DISABILITY ACCOMODATION 
 
The Town is committed to complying fully with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and 
ensuring equal opportunity in employment of qualified persons with disabilities. All employment 
practices and activities are conducted on a non-discriminatory basis. 
 
Hiring procedures have been reviewed and provide persons with disabilities meaningful 
employment opportunities. Pre-employment inquiries are made only regarding an applicant’s 
ability to perform the essential duties of the position. 
 
Reasonable accommodation is available to all disabled employees, where their disability affects 
the performance of job functions. All employment decisions are based on the merits of the 
situation in accordance with defined criteria, not the disability of the individual. 
 
Qualified individuals with disabilities are entitled to equal pay and other forms of compensation 
(or changes in compensation) as well as in job assignments, classification, organizational 
structures, position descriptions, lines of progression, and seniority lists.  Leave of all types will 
be available to all employees on an equal basis. 
 
The Town will not discriminate against any qualified employees or applicants because they are 
related to or associated with a person with a disability.  The Town adheres to any state or local 
law that provides individuals with disabilities greater protection than the ADA.  Furthermore, the 
Town is committed to taking all other actions necessary to ensure equal employment opportunity 
for persons with disabilities in accordance with the ADA and all other applicable federal, state, 
and local laws. 
 
 

6A

78



11/18 

Addition of Domestic Partner Process 

There are some requirements that a group must fulfill in order to offer employees Domestic 

Partner coverage for all MMEHT applicable plans.   

**MMEHT has a Tax Implications summary and Question/Answer document about adding 

Domestic Partner Coverage available to any employer group interested in adding this coverage.  

Please ask your Field Service Representative for either of these tools when considering Domestic 

Partner coverage.   

 (1) Certified Meeting Minutes of Authorization Vote

The governing body of the public entity (Town Meeting, Town or City Council, Board

of Trustees, Board of Directors etc.) must vote to authorize allowing Domestic Partner

Coverage for the Health Trust benefits.

Specific vote wording is required.  The required wording for each Health Trust employer

group is provided on the next page.  A copy of the minutes of the meeting where the vote is

taken, attested by the appropriate person (Town Clerk, Secretary of governing body, or other

authorized person,) should be sent to the Health Trust at the address below.  Please make sure

that the name of the body voting, the date of the vote, and the results of the vote are included.

 (2) Letter of Intent

The same person(s) authorized by the vote of the governing body must send a letter to Field

Service Representative indicting that the employer group wishes to added Domestic Partner

coverage.  This letter should be accompanied by the minutes from the meeting authorizing

this change.

 (3) Send Executed Items to the Health Trust

After photocopying all completed documents, please send items at least 60 days prior to your

effective date of requested coverage to Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust 

Attention:  (Your Field Service Representative)   60 Community Drive  Augusta, ME

04330.

************************************ 

For more information or questions, please contact your Field Service Representative, Lauren 

Gaudet (lgaudet@memun.org) or Debbie Bridges (dbridges@memun.org), by email or telephone 

phone at 1-800-452-8786.   

6B

79

mailto:lgaudet@memun.org
mailto:sgove@memun.org


 11/18 

 
Required Language for  

Adoption of Domestic Partner Coverage 
 
 

Any participating employer in the Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust wishing to adopt 

Domestic Partner Coverage must do so via a vote of the public governing body. 

 

The language below must be approved, as written, and in accordance with the individual 

employer requirements: 

 

 

Effective ________ (Month) 01, 20___ (year), __________________ (Name of Employer Group) 

amends its personnel benefits policy to allow any employee who is eligible to enroll in the 

employer benefits the option of enrolling a domestic partner.* 

 

Any employee who wishes to add a domestic partner will be advised of the requirements set 

forth in the Domestic Partner Affidavit to add said partner.  Furthermore, said employee has been 

advised there could be tax implications for adding a domestic partner.  

 

The Domestic Partner of an Employee shall be:  

• A “life partner of either the same sex or opposite sex of the employee; 

• Not legally married or separated, to either the employee or anyone else; 

• At least 18 years of age and mentally competent to consent to contract; 

• Are each other’s Domestic Partners and intend to remain so indefinitely; 

• Have been each other’s Domestic Partner for at least 12 months prior to the date of the 

signed Affidavit; 

• Are not related by blood to a degree of closeness that would prohibit marriage in the State of 

Maine 

• Are jointly responsible for each other’s common welfare; share financial obligations and 

share their primary residence 

 

 

Please note:  

Passage of Domestic Partner coverage will allow enrollment in all of the following MMEHT 

applicable benefits offered by the employer group: Medical, Dental and Vision.  Domestic 

Partner coverage must be employer-wide. It cannot be limited to specific unions, departments, or 

certain hours worked.   

 

 

6B

80



August 2021 1 

Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust 

Domestic Partner Coverage 

Questions and Answers 

1. Why is the Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust offering coverage to domestic partners?

The Health Trust Board of Trustees believes that it should respond positively to the requests of its member

employer groups and that the Trust should follow other socially responsible employers and groups in

Maine and elsewhere in offering domestic partner coverage.  Offering domestic partner coverage will also

be important for the Trust to remain competitive so it can retain current members and enroll prospective

members as well as to provide service to its participants.

2. Is domestic partner coverage offered Trust-wide or on an employer by employer choice basis?

Domestic partner coverage may impose some administrative and tax reporting impositions on employers,

not to mention the policy decision employers must consider.  Employers must be willing to accept these

possible administrative requirements.

For these reasons, the Trust has made domestic partner coverage available on an employer by employer

choice basis.  The Trust will require a formal vote of the municipal officers (council or board of

selectmen) or governing board (board of directors or trustees) and written notification in order to add

domestic partner coverage.

3. Does the Trust offer domestic partner coverage to same sex partners and/or opposite sex partners?

The Trust offers domestic partner coverage to both same sex and opposite sex partners in order to adhere

to a policy of equity and fairness.  Individual employer groups will not be allowed to alter this policy, if

they elect domestic partner coverage.

4. Is domestic partner coverage available to partners of active employees only?  Or is it also available

to partners of retirees (under and over age 65)?

Domestic partner coverage is available to eligible partners of active employees only.  It is not available to

retirees or surviving spouses.

5. Has the addition of domestic partner coverage affected Health Trust costs and claims experience?

Claims experience and cost data show that plans that have included domestic partners in benefit programs

for several years have seen only incremental increases in costs.  Plan sponsors have found that very few

domestic partners – usually 1% or less – are enrolling in benefit programs.  Data has shown that, on

average, domestic partners seem to cost less than covered spouses and the average age of domestic

partners enrolled in plans seems to be lower than the average age of dependents in general.  The Trust

expects similar experience.  The Trust has experienced no change in the premium the Trust pays for

reinsurance by adding domestic partner coverage.  The cost to the Health Trust to provide the required

communication and administrative materials for domestic partner coverage is minimal.

6. Does the Trust extend coverage to dependent children of an eligible domestic partner?

Most employers that offer domestic partner coverage extend coverage to a domestic partner’s dependent

children only if the children are the legal tax dependents of the employee.  The employee would have to

be the biological parent or have a court appointed legal relationship with the children, such as adoption.

Under this approach, dependent children of domestic partners are treated the same as “dependents” by the

plan.  Few plans extend coverage to the dependent children of a domestic partner absent the child’s legal

tax dependent relationship with an employee.  The Health Trust follows the example set by other plans,

6B

81



August 2021   

  

2 

and extends coverage to the dependent children of domestic partners only if they are the legal tax 

dependents of an employee.   

 

7. How does the Trust certify eligible domestic partners and what certification criteria are used? 

 

All employers providing domestic partner coverage require an employee and his/her domestic partner 

seeking coverage to certify by affidavit or declaration that they meet the employer’s requirements for a 

valid domestic partnership. Most employers use similar requirements for validating domestic partner 

relationships. One of the most common variables is the acceptable length of a domestic partnership.    

 

The Health Trust uses a domestic partner certification or affidavit form substantially similar to the form 

used by Blue Cross Blue Shield of Maine.  The Trust requires that a domestic partnership be in existence 

for at least twelve months prior to the effective date of the signed affidavit form.   

 

8. When does the Health Trust allow employees to enroll eligible domestic partners? 

 

Eligible domestic partners are allowed to enroll for coverage at the following dates: 1) upon the 

employee’s initial employment date (assuming valid affidavit), 2) upon the employer group electing to 

offer domestic partner coverage (assuming valid affidavit), 3) at annual enrollment when first able to 

certify valid domestic partnership, or 4) if a portability situation occurs (assuming valid affidavit).  

Portability would occur when an eligible domestic partner of a Trust employee loses his/her group health 

coverage from another employer. 

 

9. In which benefit plans does the Trust allow enrollment of eligible domestic partners? 

 

The Health Trust allows eligible domestic partners to enroll in the health, dental and vision plans only.  

 

Please note: It is important for employers to understand that reimbursement accounts such as Flexible 

Spending Accounts (FSAs) and Health Reimbursement Arrangements (HRAs) are governed by IRS 

regulations.  These regulations only permit reimbursement of a domestic partner’s expenses in very limited 

circumstances (i.e., if the domestic partner meets the IRS definition of a tax qualified dependent).  There 

are also tax implications for allowing domestic partners to receive reimbursements under an HRA.    

Employers that offer an HRA or FSA to their employees should consult their HRA or FSA vendor to 

ensure that they understand these rules. 

 

10. Does the Trust provide COBRA continuation of coverage benefits to domestic partners of active 

employees when a domestic partner loses coverage due to an active employee termination, death, 

retirement or dissolving a relationship? 

 

The Health Trust does not provide federal COBRA coverage, but does provide COBRA-like coverage for 

up to eighteen months under the following situations: 1) when the employee’s coverage is terminated, 2) 

when the employee retires, 3) when the employee dies and 4) when the employee dissolves the domestic 

partner relationship.  If a domestic partner becomes eligible for Medicare during the 18 months extended 

coverage period, his or her coverage will end on the date Medicare coverage begins. 

 

11. How can I get more information on the Trust’s policies for domestic partner coverage and employer 

group administrative considerations?  Who can I call for more information about the Trust’s 

domestic partner coverage? 

 

Call your Field Service Representative or the Health Trust Enrollment and Data Services Manager.   

6B

82



POTENTIAL TAX IMPLICATIONS 

OF PROVIDING DOMESTIC PARTNER BENEFITS 

There are certain potential tax implications to both the employee and the employer, of 

which all parties should be aware before domestic partner benefits are offered.  Most of 

these implications are discussed in Section 152 of the Internal Revenue Code.  Some of 

the major points shall be summarized here. 

Internal Revenue Code Section 152(a) defines a “dependent” for federal tax purposes.  

This definition generally requires a blood relationship (including adoption) or a marital 

relationship, as well as a support test.  In most situations, a domestic partner will not meet 

the Code requirements for the definition of a “dependent”.  In fact, a domestic partner 

will only meet the Code definition of a “dependent” if all of the following requirements 

are met: 

1. the taxpayer (in this case, the employee) provides over 50% of the domestic

partner’s support;

2. the domestic partner’s principal place of abode is that of the

taxpayer/employee, and the domestic partner is a member of the

taxpayer/employee’s “household”; and

3. the relationship of the taxpayer/employee and the domestic partner does not

violate state or local law.  Under the Internal Revenue Code Section 152

(b)(5), if the relationship violates state or local law, the domestic partner

cannot be considered to be a member of the employee’s household, and

therefore cannot be considered to be a dependent.

If a domestic partner does not meet the above requirements, and therefore does not meet 

the IRS requirements to be considered a tax-qualified dependent, then any domestic 

partner benefits provided by the employer will be considered taxable benefits to the 

employee.  If the employer pays any portion of the premium (for health and/or dental 

insurance) for the domestic partner’s coverage, the amount which the employer pays for 

that coverage is includible in the employee’s income under Internal Revenue Code 

Section 61.  So, for example, if the employer pays 50% of the cost of dependent coverage 

for an employee’s domestic partner, that amount paid by the employer must be included 

in the employee’s income. 

In addition, any such amounts includible in the employee’s income due to coverage of a 

domestic partner constitute wages under Section 3401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, 

and are subject to income tax withholding, as well as FICA and FUTA taxes.  This means 

that any employer that provides domestic partner benefits must put in place a procedural 

arrangement to ensure that W-2 tax forms are prepared for those employees who elect 

domestic partner coverage.  These W-2 tax forms must include the value of the imputed 

income arising out of the domestic partner benefits.  The employer must also be sure to 

make the necessary withholding and payroll tax payments. 

6B

83



Another issue which must be addressed by employers offering domestic partner coverage 

concerns payment of premiums by employees under a cafeteria plan or other pre-tax 

arrangement.  If the employee pays all or any portion of the cost for domestic partner 

coverage, that portion of the premium must be paid on an after-tax basis, unless the 

domestic partner meets the dependent definition in Code Section 152.  In a Private Letter 

Ruling issued by the IRS in 1995 (IRS Private Letter Ruling 9603011, October 18, 1995), 

the IRS ruled that, if a domestic partner is neither a spouse or dependent (as defined 

earlier in this memo), then: 

1. premiums paid by the employer for domestic partner coverage must be

included in the employee’s income, as already described; and

2. the employee cannot pay any part of the premium for the domestic partner’s

coverage on a pre-tax basis.  Thus, even if the employer has a plan in place for

employees to pay their portion of health and/or dental insurance premiums on

a pre-tax basis, employees would not be able to pay for domestic partner

premiums pre-tax.  Any contribution which the employee makes toward the

cost of coverage for his/her domestic partner must be made on an after-tax

basis.

Because of all the potential tax implications and complications arising from the offering 

of domestic partner coverage, the Health Trust strongly recommends that any employer 

group offering such coverage consult with its payroll administrator, tax consultant and/or 

attorney, and (if applicable) cafeteria plan administrator.   

THIS DISCLOSURE IS NOT INTENDED TO CONSTITUTE TAX ADVICE, BUT 

RATHER IS INTENDED TO HIGHLIGHT SOME OF THE COMPLEX TAX AND 

ADMINISTRATIVE ISSUES ARISING OUT OF DOMESTIC PARTNER BENEFIT 

COVERAGE.  EMPLOYERS ARE ENCOURAGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN 

ACCOUNTANTS FOR SPECIFIC TAX ADVICE. 

6B

84



Maine Municipal 
Employees Health Trust 
 60 COMMUNITY DRIVE  
 AUGUSTA, MAINE 04330-9486 
1-800-452-8786

AFFIDAVIT OF DOMESTIC PARTNERSHIP 

We, _____________________________________  and  __________________________________  (domestic partners), 

after being first duly sworn depose and attest to the following:  

• We are at least 18 years of age and we are mentally competent to contract.

• Neither of us is legally married to or separated from another person.

• We are sole domestic partners, we have been sole domestic partners since _______________ (month/day/year),
and we intend to remain sole partners.

• We have been legally domiciled together for at least [12] months.

• We are not related by blood to a degree of closeness that would prohibit marriage in the State of Maine.

• Neither of us has covered another individual or has been covered by another individual as a domestic partner or a
legal spouse in a [health] or [dental] or [vision] insurance policy in the preceding [12] months. We understand that
domestic partners cannot enroll together for [12] months following the termination of coverage of a prior domestic
partner or legal spouse.

• We are jointly responsible for each other’s common welfare as evidenced through a joint deed, joint mortgage, joint
lease, joint credit card, joint bank account, and/or powers of attorney authorizing each of us to act on behalf of the
other. Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust reserves the right to request, at a future time, one of the previously
mentioned documents.

• We understand that a domestic partner enrolled as a dependent ceases to be an eligible member on the first of the
month following the termination of a domestic partnership and that we are required to submit an Application of
Change within 31 days of the termination of a domestic partnership.

 ___________________  ____________________________   ____________________________  
Date  Subscriber Signature  Print Name  

 ___________________  ____________________________   ____________________________  
Date  Domestic Partner Signature  Print Name  

STATE OF ______________________  _________________________________ , ss 

On this _____________ day of _________________________ , 20 ______ , personally appeared the above named  

_____________________________  and  ________________________ , and swore to the truth of the foregoing. Before 

me,  

 ________________________________ 
Notary Public/Attorney at Law  My Commission Expires:  _______________________   

6B

85



We understand that domestic partners are subject to the other eligibility provisions of the Health Trust benefit plans.  
  
We agree to notify the Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust and the employee’s employer within thirty (30) days of 
the termination of our domestic partnership. A written termination statement shall be provided and shall affirm that the 
partnership is terminated and that a copy of the termination statement has been mailed to the other partner.   
  
We certify, under penalty of perjury, that the foregoing is true and correct. We, the undersigned employee and the Domestic 
Partner, understand that falsification of information contained in this Affidavit may cause immediate termination of Health 
Trust health and/or dental plan coverage, and may subject us to civil action to recover any losses, including reasonable 
attorney’s fees incurred by the Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust for benefits provided under its health and/or dental 
plans. We also understand that falsification of information contained in this Affidavit may lead to disciplinary action, up to 
and including immediate termination of the employee’s employment.  
 ___________________________________________________    _________________________   
Signature of Employee  Date  
 ___________________________________________________    _________________________   
Signature of Domestic Partner  
  
A. Dependent Child Certification  

  

Date  

I, __________________________ certify that my Partner’s child(ren) named below meet the following requirement:  
           Subscriber Name 
1. I, the subscriber, have a court-appointed legal relationship with the child(ren) (i.e., adoption, guardianship), and my 

Partner is the biological parent, or legal guardian of the child(ren).  
  

Partner’s Dependent Child(ren)  
   _________________________  _________________________    __________________   
  Last Name  First Name  M.I.  
   _________________________  _________________________    __________________   
  Last Name  First Name  M.I.  
   _________________________  _________________________    __________________   
  Last Name  First Name  M.I.  
   _________________________  _________________________    __________________   
  Last Name  First Name  M.I.  
  
I understand that falsely certifying as to dependent’s eligibility or failure to inform the Health Trust when a dependent 
no longer meets applicable eligibility requirements may cause immediate termination of Health Trust health and/or 
dental plan coverage, and may subject me to civil action to recover any losses, including reasonable attorney’s fees 
incurred by the Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust for benefits paid on behalf of the dependent child(ren) named 
above under its health and/or dental plans. I also understand that falsely certifying as to a dependent’s eligibility or 
failure to inform my employer when a dependent no longer meets applicable eligibility requirements may result in 
disciplinary action, up to and including immediate termination of employment.  
 ________________________________________________    _________________________   
Signature of Employee  
  
Approved by the Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust  

Date  

By: ___________________________________________    _________________________   
    Signature  Date  
    ___________________________________________   
    Title  

  
The following section is for certification to an employer of the legal tax dependent status of a domestic partner. 

  

6B

86



  

B. Partner Certification as a Tax-Qualified Dependent  
  

Based on consultation with a tax advisor, I certify that the previously named person whom I am enrolling for coverage 
is my legal tax dependent as defined in the IRS Code Section 152. I understand that falsification of this certification of 
dependency status may result in disciplinary action, up to and including immediate termination of employment, as well 
as potential charges of tax fraud. I agree to notify my employer immediately of any change in this tax status.  
  
By: ___________________________________________    _________________________   

    Signature of Employee  
  

Date  

    
  

6B

87



Newcastle 

3 : 30 PM 

Warrant Preview 
Pay Date: 12/11/2023 

Jrnl Invoi~e OPc-~ription 

Description 

00277 BANGOR SAVINGS BANK 

0318 Fire Truck Loan Pymt 
January Truck Pymt 

Reference 

Account 

January Pymt 

E 110-30-60 

Proj 

DEBT SERVICE - DEBT SERV / LOAN PYMT FT 

Vendor Total-

00033 CENTRAL MAINE POWER CO 
0318 Various Electric Accounts 
30012720394 - AC HL STR L E 105-57-02 

PUB SAFETY - INFRASTRUCT / ST. LIGHTS 

Invoice Total-
0318 Various Electric Accounts 
35013844770 - STR LIGHTS E 105-57-02 

35011641467 - F.D . 
PUB SAFETY - INFRASTRUCT / ST . LIGHTS 

E 105-66-02 
PUB SAFETY - FIRE STA/COM/ ELECTRICITY 

Invoice Total

Vendor Total-

00313 CivicPlus 

0318 Ci vicCMS Standard Annual 
ANNUAL WEBSITE 

WEBSITE 
E 101-25-12 

GEN GOVT - OPERATIONS/ WEBSITE 

00074 COLBY & GALE 

0318 FIRE CO FUEL/ PROPANE 
HARRIOT BIRD PROPANE 

2 SEP ACCTS 
E 101-67-01 

Vendor Total-

GEN GOVT - BIRD PLAYGR / HEATING FUEL 
FIRE CO VEHICLE FUEL E 105-05-60 

PUB SAFETY - FIRE DEPT/ VEH GAS/OIL 

Vendor Total-

00397 EMMA MCKEARNEY 

0318 Mileage to Alna PO 15. 5 miles 

Mileage Reimbursement E 101 - 25 - 75 
GEN GOVT - OPERATI ONS / MILEAGE 

00010 GREAT SALT BAY COMM. SCHOOL 
0318 SCHOOL/ELEMENTARY 
DECEMBER APPROPRIATION 

DECEMBER 

E 116 - 60- 01 
SCHOOLS - SCHOOLS / ELEMENTARY 

00011 GREAT SALT BAY SANITARY DIST. 

0318 SEWER/WATER/HYDRANTS 
TOWN OFFICE SEWER/WATER 

NOVEMBER 

E 101 - 65 -0 3 

Vendor Total-

Vendor Total-

GEN GOVT - TOWN OFFICE / WATER/ SEWER 
FIRE STATION SEWER/WATER E 105-66 -0 3 

PUB SAFETY - FIRE STA/ COM / WATER/ SEWER 
(16) HYDRANTS E 105 - 57- 01 

PUB SAFETY - INFRASTRUCT / HYDRANTS 

Vendor Total-

00897 HAGAR ENTERPRISES, INC 

0318 SNOW PYMT #5 JANUARY 
E 107-41-01 Snow Removal Roads 

Snow Downtown 
PUBLI C WORKS - WINTER OPS/ SNOW REMOVAL 

E 107-41-02 
PUBLI C WORKS - WINTER OPS/ SNOW DWNTWN 

Vendor Total-

00311 Hi-Tech Colllll\unications 

Amount 

2,256 . 92 

2,256.92 

48.77 

48.77 

14 0. 70 

271 . 38 

412.08 

460.85 

2,66 5 .00 

2,665.00 

302.41 

451.33 

753.74 

10.15 

10.15 

149 , 770 . 83 

149,770.83 

201.52 

201 . 52 

4, llO . 34 

4,513.38 

31 , 167.14 

5 , 793 . 78 

36,960.92 

12/06/2023 

Page 1 

Encumbrance 

0 . 00 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

0 .0 0 

8A

88



Newcastle 

3:30 PM 
Warrant Preview 
Pay Date: 12/11/2023 

Jrnl Invoice Description Reference 

Account Description 

0318 New Phone, Fix Extensions Inv #43225 
E 101-65-05 New Phone, Fix Extensions 

Labor/1 . 5 hrs . 
GEN GOVT - TOWN OFFICE / TELEPHONES 

E 101-65-05 
GEN GOVT - TOWN OFFICE / TELEPHONES 

Proj 

Vendor Total-

00318 LCTV 

0318 Select Board Meeting 
Video Recordings 

11/27/2023 
E 101- 25 - 81 

GEN GOVT - OPERATIONS/ VIDEO RECORD 

0318 PLANNING BOARD 
Invoice Total-

12/5/2023 
Video Recordings E 101-25-81 

GEN GOVT - OPERATIONS/ VIDEO RECORD 

00013 LINCOLN COUNTY NEWS 

0318 ADS - PB, SHORELAND ORDIN 
ADS : PB, SHORELAND ORD 

P 203767 

E 101 - 25-55 
GEN GOVT - OPERATIONS/ ADS 

00115 LINCOLN COUNTY REG. DEEDS 

0318 DISCHARGES 
NOV . DISCHARGES 

NOVEMBER 
E 101-25-91 

Invoice Total

Vendor Total-

Vendor Total-

GEN GOVT - OPERATIONS/ RECORDINGS 

Vendor Total-

00121 LOUIS DOE, INC. 

0318 CABLE TIES - WREATHS 2 SEP . INVS 
CABLE TIES - TREE/PARK E 105-66-04 

PUB SAFETY - FIRE STA/COM/ MAINT/REPAIR 
WREATHS - TOWN OFFICE E 101 - 25-95 

GEN GOVT - OPERATIONS/ SUPPLIES 

Vendor Total-

00233 MAIN STREET GROCERY 
0318 GA - FOOD 

GA - FOOD/ NOVEMBER 

NOVEMBER 
E 102 - 51-04 

PUBLIC SRVCE - G.A . / FOOD 

00821 MAINE MUNICIPAL ASSOC/PROP-CAS POOL 

0318 PROPERTY & CASUALTY INS Pl5110PC2023 

P15110PC2023 E 101 - 03-05 

Vendor Total-

GEN GOVT - INSURANCE/ PROP/CASUALT 

00375 MAINE MUNICIPAL TAX COLLECT & TREASURERS' 
ASSOC 

0318 2023 Membership Applicati Michelle 
Membership Application E 101-25-80 

Vendor Total-

GEN GOVT - OPERATIONS/ PRO.DEV/FEES 

Vendor Total-

00017 MAINE TOWN & CITY CLERKS ASSOCIATION 

0318 ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP SHELLY 
ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP E 101-25-80 

GEN GOVT - OPERATIONS/ PRO.DEV/FEES 

Vendor Total-

00300 MICHELLE CAMERON 

0318 Mileage - BMV Workshop 52 miles 

Amount 

335 . 00 

180.00 

515.00 

100.00 

100.00 

100 . 00 

100.00 

200.00 

420 . 00 

420 . 00 

190 . 00 

190.00 

17 . 99 

125 . 00 

142.99 

183 . 63 

183.63 

10,263 . 50 

10,263.50 

30 . 00 

30.00 

30 . 00 

30.00 

12/06/2023 

Page 2 

Encumbrance 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

0 . 00 

0.00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

8A

89



Newcastle 

3:30 PM 
Warrant Preview 
Pay Date: 12/11/2023 

Jrnl Invoice Description Reference 

Account Description 

Mileage Reimbursement E 101-25-75 
GEN GOVT - OPERATIONS/ MILEAGE 

Proj 

Vendor Total-

00993 MURPHY APPRAISAL SERVICES, INC. 

0318 ASSESSING SERVICES JULY-DEC . 2023 
E 101-04-01 JULY - DEC /ASSESSING 

SHPSCOT CEM - MAPPING 
GEN GOVT - CONTRC SRVCS / ASSESS AGENT 

E 101-70-01 
GEN GOVT - CEMETERIES/ MAINTENANCE 

Vendor Total-

00405 NORTHEAST COFFEE COMPANY 

0318 MAIN/O'NEIL/SULLIVAN 
Water for Residents 

COOLER RENTALS 
E 101-99-99 

GEN GOVT - MISC/ CONTINGENCY 

Vendor Total-

00109 PROPERTY CARE PLUS, INC 

0318 Fall Clean-up 
Invoice #051070 

T. Off & V. Par 

E 101-70-02 
GEN GOVT - CEMETERIES/ MOWING 

Vendor Total-

00102 READY REFRESH/BLUE TRITION BRANDS INC 
0318 TOWN OFFICE WATER NOVEMBER 
TOWN OFFICE WATER E 101-25-95 

GEN GOVT - OPERATIONS/ SUPPLIES 

00340 SPIC & SPAN CLEANING INC 

0318 Cleaning Services 
NOV . CLEANING SERVICES 

NOVEMBER 
E 101-65-06 

Vendor Total-

GEN GOVT - TOWN OFFICE / JANITORIAL 

Vendor Total-

00189 TIDEWATER TELECOM INC 

0318 PHONE LINES F.D. & T. 0. 

TOWN OFFICE LINES E 101-65-05 
GEN GOVT - TOWN OFFICE I TELEPHONES 

FIRE DEPT E 105-05-09 
PUB SAFETY - FIRE DEPT I PHONES 

00022 TREASURER, STATE OF ME-ANIMAL WELP 

0318 DOG LICENSING 
NOV. DOG LICENSING 

NOVEMBER 

G 1-365-00 
GEN'L GOV. / STATE DOG 

00023 TREASURER, STATE OF ME-BMV 

0318 11/22 - 11/30/2023 
11/22 - 11/30/23 BMV Rep 

BMV Report 
G 1-345 - 00 

GEN'L GOV. / STATE MV FEE 

00027 TREASURER, STATE OF ME-IFW 

0318 Excise Tax Stickers 
6 - Excise Tax Stickers 

GEN'L GOV. 

0318 MOSES - 8192 
NOV . MOSES - 8192 

Quantity : 
G 1-350-00 

/ STATE IFW $ 

NOVEMBER 
G 1-350-00 

GEN'L GOV . / STATE IFW $ 

Vendor Total-

Vendor Total-

***PAID*** 

Vendor Total-

6 ***SEPARATE*** 

Invoice Total -

Invoice Total-

Amount 

34 . 06 

34.06 

11,025 . 00 

4,000 . 00 

15,025.00 

32 . 85 

32.85 

295 . 00 

295.00 

49 . 99 

49.99 

540 . 00 

540.00 

218.75 

115. 54 

334.29 

42.00 

42.00 

Check# 
3,267 . 07 

3,267.07 

1 . 20 

1.20 

251 . 00 

251.00 

12/06/2023 

Page 3 

Encumbrance 

0 . 00 

0.00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

0 . 00 

0.00 

2672 
0.00 

0.00 

0 . 00 

8A

90



Newcastle 

3:30 PM 

Jrnl Invoice Description 

Description 

00305 USPS - ALNA, MAINE 

0318 CERTIFIED 30-DAY NOTICES 

14 Certified Mailings 

GEN GOVT -

00155 USPS - NEWCASTLE 

0318 PRIORITY & $1.00 STAMPS 

Warrant Preview 
Pay Date: 12/11/2023 

Reference 

Account 

14 Mailings 

E 101-25-05 

Proj 

Vendor Total-

***PAID*** 

OPERATIONS/ POSTAGE/ENV 

Vendor Total-

POSTAGE ***PAID*** 

Priority & $1 stamps E 101-25-05 

GEN GOVT - OPERATIONS/ POSTAGE/ENV 

Invoice Total-
0318 ANNUAL PO BOX SERVICE 
PO BOX SERVICE FEE E 101-25-05 

GEN GOVT - OPERATIONS/ POSTAGE/ENV 

Invoice Total

Vendor Total-

Prepaid Total

Current Total-

Warrant Total-

Amount 

252.20 

Check ll 

119.84 

119.84 

Check ll 
87.20 

87.20 

354.00 

354.00 

441.20 

3,474.11 

226,326.30 

229,800.41 

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THERE IS DUE AND CHARGEABLE TO THE APPROPRIATIONS 
LISTED ABOVE AND YOU ARE DIRECTED TO PAY UNTO 
THIS SCHEDULE. 

JOEL LIND 
TOR GLENDINNING 
RUFUS PERCY 
KAREN PAZ 
THOMAS KOSTENBADER 

THE PART~ED/ IN 

DATE: ,2023 

12/06/2023 

Page 4 

Encumbrance 

2671 

0.00 

2670 

0.00 

0.00 

8A

91


	2023-12-11 Select Board Agenda
	5A_Farm Space removal form Wilcox 12-11-2023
	5B1_FIREWORKS ORDINANCE  Adopted 6.18.2012 redline 12.5
	5B2_Fireworks Ordinance
	5C_Reserve Funds
	5D_Boards and Committees
	5E1_Aquaculture Meeting Agenda
	5E2_Nov 30, 2023 Newcastle Board Agenda special mtg
	5E3_2023.11.30 PB Agenda (Special)
	6A_Personnel Policy FINAL DRAFT  11.28.23
	6B_Domestic Partner Adoption Process Updated 8.2021
	Domestic Partner Affidavit-51119.pdf
	AFFIDAVIT OF DOMESTIC PARTNERSHIP
	B. Partner Certification as a Tax-Qualified Dependent



	8A_Town Warrant 12-11-2023

	after being first duly sworn depose and attest to the following: 
	and: 
	monthdayyear: 
	Date: 
	Print Name: 
	Date_2: 
	Print Name_2: 
	STATE OF: 
	undefined: 
	ss: 
	day of: 
	On this: 
	and_2: 
	20: 
	and swore to the truth of the foregoing Before: 
	Notary PublicAttorney at Law: 
	My Commission Expires: 
	Date_3: 
	Date_4: 
	Subscriber Name: 
	Last Name: 
	First Name: 
	MI: 
	Last Name_2: 
	First Name_2: 
	MI_2: 
	Last Name_3: 
	First Name_3: 
	MI_3: 
	Last Name_4: 
	First Name_4: 
	MI_4: 
	Date_5: 
	Date_6: 
	Title: 
	Date_7: 


